The University of South Bohemia in České Budějovice Faculty of Science

Potential antiviral effect of α-Spinasterol against tick-borne encephalitis virus

Bachelor's thesis

Jana Koblmiller

Supervisor: Mgr. Hana Mašková Co-supervisor: Mgr. Lenka Doudová

České Budějovice 2024

Koblmiller, J., 2024: Potential antiviral effect of α-Spinasterol against tick-borne encephalitis virus. Bc. Thesis, in English. – 48 p. Faculty of Science, University of South Bohemia, České Budějovice, Czech Republic.

Annotation:

Tick-borne encephalitis virus (TBEV) is endemic in many European countries. Apart from prevention by vaccination, no specific treatments are available for the TBE disease. Here, we assess the antiviral potential of α -Spinasterol (ASP) against TBEV. ASP is a phytosterol that has demonstrated a wide pharmacological profile. It reportedly exhibits anticancer, antibacterial, and antifungal properties and has shown antiviral effects against SARS-CoV 2. The examination of antiviral properties was preceded by the evaluation of the compound's cytotoxicity on a human medulloblastoma cell line. The experimental design was laid out to compare the effects of preventive and inhibiting ASP administration to evaluate the mechanism of action and potential interference with viral entry and viral replication. No conclusive results were obtained regarding the antiviral effects; however, additional testing is encouraged.

Declaration:

I declare that I am the author of this qualification thesis and that in writing it I have used the sources and literature displayed in the list of used sources only.

České Budějovice, 09.05.2024

.....

Jana Koblmiller

Acknowledgements

First, I would like to extend my deepest gratitude to Mgr. Lenka Doudová for her invaluable help at the lab, day in and day out, and to Mgr. Hana Mašková for her guidance throughout my writing process as well as her inspirational organisational skills in managing this project under tight deadlines. Time was a critical factor in the completion of this thesis, and I must thank Dr. Ján Štěrba for the opportunity to join his lab on such short notice and for making this endeavour possible.

List of Abbreviations

Abbreviation	Definition
ASP	α-Spinasterol
ASP+TBEV	α -Spinasterol addition simultaneously to virus
ASP/TBEV	α -Spinasterol addition one day prior to virus
Asn154	Asparagine 154
BBB	Blood-brain barrier
С	Capsid
CNS	Central nervous system
CTHD	C-terminal hydrophobic chain
DI-DIV	Domain I-IV
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
dpi	Days post-infection
ER	Endoplasmic reticulum
GAGs	Glycosaminoglycans
Ig	Immunoglobulin
MOI	Multiplicity of Infection
MTase	Methyltransferase
Ν	Nucleocapsid
NC	Negative Control
NS1-5	Non-structural Protein 1-5
NS	Non-structural Protein
PC	Positive Control
PCR	Polymerase Chain Reaction
PFU	Plaque-forming Units
prM	Precursor M
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
SP	Structural proteins
TBE	Tick-borne encephalitis
TBEV	Tick-borne encephalitis virus
UPR	Unfolded protein response
+ssRNA	Positive single-strand RNA

Table of Contents

1 Introduction	1
1.1 Tick-Borne Encephalitis Virus 1.1.1 Structural and Genetic Characteristics	1 2
1.1.2 Transmission and Epidemiology	6
1.1.3 Pathogenicity and Clinical Manifestation 1.1.4 Treatment and Prevention	
1.2 α -Spinasterol	
1.2.1 Chemical Structure and Properties	12
1.2.2 Pharmacology of α-Spinasterol	13
2 Aims and Objectives	16
3 Materials and Methods	17
3.1 Cells and Viruses	
3.2 Cell Seeding and Cytotoxicity	17
3.3 Viral Infection and Sample Collection	
3.4 RNA Isolation and LiCl-Precipitation	
3.5 NS1 and HPRT qRT-PCR Assay	19
3.6 Plaque Assay	20
3.6 Statisical Analysis	
4 Results	
4.1 $lpha$ -Spinasterol Cytotoxicity	22
4.3 Plaque Assay	27
5 Discussion	29
6 Bibliography	

1 Introduction

1.1 Tick-Borne Encephalitis Virus

Orthoflavivirus encephalitidis, formerly known as Tick-borne encephalitis virus (TBEV) is an arthropod-borne viral human pathogen that causes tick-borne encephalitis (TBE), a disease primarily affecting the central nervous system (CNS) after transmission through the bite of infected ticks, particularly of the Ixodes species, or the consumption of unpasteurised dairy products (Kříž, Beneš, and Daniel 2009; Bogovic 2015). It is an enveloped, positive-stranded RNA virus of the Flaviviridae family and the Orthoflavivirus genus (Postler et al. 2023). Its geographical distribution is predominantly restricted to forested areas of Europe and northeastern Asia and is subclassified into five subtypes (Ruzek et al. 2019a). This classification differentiates between the European subtype (TBEV-Eu), which includes several strains from European countries, like the Hypr strain identified in Czechia as well as the prototype strain Neudörfl; the Far-Eastern subtype (TBEV-FE) with its Sofiin prototype and further strains found in east Russia, China, Japan, and other eastern European countries; and the Siberian subtype (TBEV-Sib) with the Lesopark-11, Aina, and Vasilchenko prototypes (Ecker et al. 1999; Demina et al. 2010). More recently identified subtypes include the Himalayan (TBEV-Him) and the Baikal subtypes (TBEV-Bkl) (Dai et al. 2018; Kozlova et al. 2018). TBE is endemic in central European countries, Siberia, far-eastern Russia, northern China, and Japan. Figure 1 shows the so-called TBE-belt representative of the geographic distribution. It has been suggested that climate change might affect vector biology and pathogen transmission, thereby playing a role in the increasing public health concern (Gray et al. 2009).



Figure 1. Geographic distribution of TBE in Europe and Asia. Map created by the Center for Disease Control and Prevention.

1.1.1 Structural and Genetic Characteristics

The spherical TBE particles have a diameter of about 50 nm and are composed of the three structural proteins (SP) capsid (C), envelope (E), and either membrane protein (M) or its precursor, prM, in immature virions, and seven non-structural proteins (NS) NS1, NS2A, NS2B, NS3, NS4A, NS4B, and NS5, with varying functions (King et al. 2012; Bamford and Zuckerman 2021). The ~11 kb-long positive-sense RNA (+ssRNA) genome is in the nucleocapsid (N) of the virion, enclosed by a lipid membrane derived from the host cell that also carries and proteins E Μ (Donoso-Mantke and Ruzek 2011). The TBEV genome features one open reading frame bordered by the 5' and 3' untranslated regions. A cap is present at the 5' end, but the 3' end lacks a polyA tail (King et al. 2012). The single polyprotein composed of 3414 amino acids encoded by the ssRNA is processed into the SPs and NS via co- and post-translational cleavage by cellular proteases and the viral NS2B-NS3 serine protease (Donoso-Mantke and Ruzek 2011; King et al. 2012).

1.1.1.1 Structural Proteins

The C protein constructs the nucleocapsid (N) through its interaction with viral RNA. In its precursor state, it includes a C-terminal hydrophobic domain (CTHD) made up of 20 amino acids. This domain is commonly removed by a serine protease during the polyprotein processing stage, resulting in the formation of a brief CTHD polypeptide (Yamshchikov and Compans 1993). This domain has been attributed to a role in virion assembly (Kofler et al. 2003). The E protein constitutes a major component of the mature TBE virion and is an antiparallel dimer oriented horizontally to the viral membrane. It is a glycoprotein consisting of 496 residues and comprising four domains (DI, DII, DIII, and DIV) (Rey et al. 1995). Recent findings by Füzik et al. have provided detailed insights into the structure of the E protein, some of which will be outlined in the following passage: The ectodomain, which projects into the extracellular space and envelops the particle's surface, is constituted by the three N-terminal domains, all of which are primarily composed of β -strands. The β -barrel structure of the centrally located DI contains three segments with two loops, which form DII (Rey et al. 1995). DII is characterised by β-strands connected through loops and helices, thereby forming an extended structure (Füzik et al. 2018; Pulkkinen, Butcher, and Anastasina 2018). This elongated domain includes the only glycosylation site (Asn154) of the mature virus, which has been found to play a role in the secretion of virus-like particles from

mammalian cells (Goto et al. 2005; Füzik et al. 2018). It also contains a highly conserved fusion loop, which is fundamental to the fusion process with the host membrane during TBEV entry (Rey et al. 1995). DIII resembles the fold of immunoglobulin (Ig) and has been attributed to binding to host receptors. The C-terminal DIV attaches the E protein to the membrane. It has a stem region comprised of three peripheral membrane helices and a transmembrane region containing two helices (Füzik et al. 2018). As is characteristic of orthoflaviviruses, the E and M proteins slightly distort the lipid envelope. The M protein consists of 75 residues and is a remnant of prM, which consists of 162 residues (Pulkkinen, Butcher, and Anastasina 2018). M protein is composed of an N-terminal loop and three helices, one of which is perimembrane, and two are transmembrane. The N-terminal loop region interacts with E proteins in a E-M-M-E heterotetramer (Füzik et al. 2018).

1.1.1.2 Non-structural Proteins

NS1 is a conserved glycoprotein involved in viral RNA replication and translation, and immune invasion (Camarão et al. 2023). Orthoflaviviral NS1 has a molecular weight of about 48-55 kDa and a length of 352 amino acids (Rastogi, Sharma, and Singh, 2016). As a monomer, it is comprised of 2 to 3 glycosylation sites as well as 12 cysteines that form six disulfide bonds (Akey et al. 2014). NS1 exists in infected cells before the intracellular dimeric NS1 is confined in the lumen of the ER following post-translational modification in the initial stages of infection. As the infection progresses, NS1 particles are transported to the cell surface and subsequently secreted into the extracellular space, where they interact with the complement immune system, as proteolipid hexamers. A link between NS1 and the activation of Toll-like receptors has furthermore been reported (Kindberg et al. 2011). NS1 serves as an antigenic marker for early diagnosis of TBEV due to high expression levels during infection (Avirutnan et al. 2011). The orthoflaviviral NS1 protein is composed of three primary domains, the structure of which has been reported on by Akey et al. (2014). The β -roll dimerisation domain comprises amino acids 1-29 and is made of two β -hairpins that connect to form a four-stranded β -sheet. The wing-like domain spans amino acids 30-180 and contains two glycosylation sites, an internal disulphide, as well as two subdomains (Rastogi, Sharma, and Singh, 2016). The third domain, the β -ladder, is among the most well-established features of NS1 and comprises amino acids 181-352. It is a β -sheet extending the length of the dimer, and each monomer contributes nine strands to the antiparallel domain. The β -ladder forms a plane that divides the NS1 dimer, with the remaining domains and additional structural elements on either side (Akey et al. 2014). NS1 interacts with other NS proteins to form a replication complex in the ER (Rastogi, Sharma, and Singh 2016). NS2A is a transmembrane protein that presents a pivotal element in RNA replication and the assembly of virions. Mutagenesis studies have shown that various subsets of NS2A, each situated in specific cellular areas, are utilised differently in these processes (Xie et al. 2015). NS2B is a membraneassociated protein composed of 130 amino acids and takes on the role of a cofactor for the NS3 protease (Falgout, Miller, and Lai 1993). It is essential to the replication process, especially through its contribution to the proteolytic processing of the viral polyprotein (Kurz et al. 2012). NS3 performs a function in viral replication and presents a primary target for the immune response following TBEV infection (Kubinski et al. 2024). NS3 has furthermore been found to boost adenosine triphosphatase (ATPase) activity, thereby facilitating viral replication and aiding in the evasion of type I interferon response (Silveira et al. 2015). Proteins NS4A and NS4B of orthoflaviviruses are known to contribute to viral replication, affect the host's immune response, and assist in virus assembly. NS4A is central to the suppression of the host interferon response by effectively disrupting the activation of IFN-stimulated genes (Q. Yang et al. 2020). In Bluetongue virus, which is comparable to TBEV with regards to transmission modes and some structural aspects, it enhances viral replication by interacting with Wilms' tumour 1-associated protein (Fablet et al. 2022). It has further been suggested that NS4 proteins in orthoflaviviruses engage in the virion assembly by mediating the recruitment of prM-E heterodimers and through interactions with additional viral proteins (Tang et al. 2023). NS5 is a highly conserved protein with a length of 900 amino acids (Belikov et al. 2014). It is a multifunctional protein contributing to RNA capping and viral RNA replication. As such, it features an N-terminal methyltransferase (MTase) domain responsible for RNA capping, and a C-terminal RNA-dependent RNA polymerase domain that is fundamental to viral replication (Zhao et al. 2017). The MTase domain of the NS5 protein has also been suggested to affect neural development by inhibiting neurite outgrowth induced by nerve growth factor in PC12 cells (Wigerius et al., 2010).

1.1.1.3 Replication and Life Cycle

The replication and assembly of TBEV particles undergo several maturation steps. The complete replication cycle is visualised in Figure 2. In the initial step of the cell entry pathway, the E glycoprotein attaches to the surface of a susceptible host cell, followed by internalisation. The role of heparan sulphate in virus attachment has been discussed in the literature, and it has

furthermore been suggested that orthoflaviviral virions likely target a ubiquitous cell surface molecule or use several receptors to enter cells, which is further supported by the recent identification of numerous attachment factors (Kroschewski et al. 2003; Perera-Lecoin et al. 2013; Van Den Elsen, Quek, and Luo 2021) This strategy allows the virus to infect a wide range of host cells. Multiple orthoflaviviruses reportedly utilise glycosaminoglycans (GAGs) as low-affinity attachment factors (Lee and Lobigs 2000). GAGs are negatively charged, highly sulphated polysaccharides abundantly expressed on many cell types. The interactions with GAGs are facilitated by DIII of protein E and aid in concentrating the virus on the cell surface. Receptor-mediated endocytosis regulates the transport of the virions into prelysosomal endocytic compartments of the host cell via clathrin-coated pits. The acidic pH endosomal environment has been demonstrated to induce an irreversible reorganisation of the envelope protein E homodimers into homotrimers (Allison et al. 1995). The conformational change leads to a fusion event of the viral and endosomal membranes, followed by the release of the N into the host cell cytosol (Smit et al. 2011). The N degrades, uncoating the viral RNA, which serves as a template for translation into a single polyprotein at the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and subsequent processing into NS and SPs. The replication complex formed by the NS replicates a temporary negative-strand RNA using the genomic RNA template. The newly synthesised negative strand is further utilised as a template for the synthesis of a new positive-strand RNA genome. The assembly of immature virions is then initiated. C protein forms the spherical core with the viral RNA, the membrane-associated proteins prM and E in a heterodimeric complex. The virions are then secreted in vesicles and are transported through the Golgi apparatus, where they move through acidic compartments (Allison et al. 1995). The virions undergo conformational changes and maturation, which includes the cleavage of precursor proteins by cellular enzymes (Stadler et al. 1997). Mature virions are released from the host cell by exocytosis or cell lysis.



Figure 2. TBEV Replication Cycle. Figure created by H. Mašková using BioRender.com.

1.1.2 Transmission and Epidemiology

TBEV transmission entails a series of complex interactions between the virus and its hosts, as well as environmental factors. Transmission to humans occurs primarily through the bites of infected ticks, which function as both vectors (transmitters) and reservoirs (hosts) for the virus. The major tick vectors in Europe and Asia are I. ricinus and I. persulcatus. While small mammals are considered important reservoir hosts in the maintenance of the enzootic cycle of TBEV because they typically do not show signs of infection, humans are considered dead-end and mostly accidental hosts for TBEV that do not contribute to the transmission cycle (Kwasnik, Rola, and Rozek 2023). Transmission occurs horizontally and vertically. In the latter case, TBEV is passed from an infected female tick to the offspring. The transovarial mode of transmission ensures the virus' persistence without the need for an infected host. While vertical transmission between generations in the host has also been reported in rodents through the placenta to embryos (Bakhvalova et al. 2009), this mode has not been shown in humans (Divé et al. 2020). During horizontal transmission, ticks at larval, nymphal, and adult stages become infected with TBEV by feeding on the blood of vertebrates carrying the virus, such as small rodents, birds, or reptiles. Post-ingestion, the virus multiplies within the tick's gastrointestinal tract before dispersing further to various tissues, such as the salivary glands (Šimo et al. 2017). TBEV is capable of transstadial transmission, allowing the virus to persist in the tick through its developmental transitions from larva to nymph and finally to adult (Karbowiak et al. 2016). This allows for the preservation of the virus within the tick population over time. Adding to the transmission modes, and challenging the existing understanding of such, the cellular mechanism of co-feeding was explored in the 1990s when TBEV transmission between ticks occurred despite the absence of viraemia in the host (Labuda et al. 1993). This was further confirmed by findings showing virus transmission between infected and uninfected ticks feeding on the same host promoted by immune rodents despite the presence of neutralising antibodies (Labuda et al. 1997). During co-feeding, leukocytes migrate between feeding sites, thereby transporting virions between the ticks (Labuda et al. 1997; Randolph 2011). Systemic transmission to a mammalian host occurs during an infected tick's blood meal, during which the virus is released from the salivary glands into the host's bloodstream, while blood is ingested through the same channel (Kemp, Stone, and Binnington 1982; Simo et al. 2017). There are several barriers the virus must surpass to cause disease in the host. However, saliva contains a wide variety of pharmacologically active proteinaceous and non-proteinaceous molecules and compounds that are secreted throughout the feeding

process, including anticoagulants and immunomodulatory components that are beneficial in transmission as they alter the skin barrier and compromise the immune responses (Hart et al. 2020). Mechanisms such as the interference with mast cells to suppress itching and pain, as well as modulating the secretion of inflammatory cytokines, and the restriction of wound healing by binding growth factors help ticks stay undetected while staying attached to the host for several days or weeks, depending on the tick's life stage (Šimo et al. 2017).

TBEV has been demonstrated to cause morphological changes in human intestinal Caco-2cell monolayers, suggesting transmission through transcytosis and paracellular pathways (Yu et al. 2014). These findings potentially imply an alternative route for viral entry into the human host apart from vector-borne transmission. The alimentary route of transmission has been supported by a growing body of evidence (Kříž, Beneš, and Daniel 2009; Buczek et al. 2022; Nagańska et al. 2023). Additionally, a recent review emphasised the potential of breast milk as a transmission route (Dabas et al. 2023). TBE has been a notifiable disease in the EU since 2012, in an effort to update and refine the Union's surveillance and control of communicable diseases among its member states (Commission Decision No. 2012/492/EU). According to an annual report by the European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC), epidemiological data for 2020 is available for 24 European countries, with the highest number of incidents per 100 000 reported in Lithuania, Slovenia, and Czechia. However, between 2012 and 2020, Czechia reported the most cases (Van Heuverswyn et al. 2023). The EU/EEA notification rate of 0.9 cases per 100 000 population shows an increase by 0.2 points since 2019, and by 0.3 points since 2016-2018. In 2020, 16 out of 3734 confirmed cases were fatal. Immunisation status was available for 64.1 % of confirmed cases, of which 94.7 % were reportedly unvaccinated. TBE predominantly occurs between April and November, corresponding to the seasonality of tick activity, with infections peaking in July (ECDC 2022; Van Heuverswyn et al. 2023). The increase in cases reported in 2020 was hypothesised to be subject to the Covid-19 pandemic which entailed an increase in outdoor activities (Van Heuverswyn et al. 2023), although environmental factors mentioned in Chapt. 1.1.4 may contribute to this dynamic. In addition to an increased number of cases, a north-west bound spread of endemicity was reported (Hills et al. 2023). Systematic TBE surveillance may be insufficient due to discrepancies in case definition and reporting among European countries, leading to incomplete databases and a potential underestimation of TBE as a public health threat (Erber, Schmitt, and Janković 2023). Additionally, vaccination rates are low in European countries and only a few countries recommend the vaccine for the general population (Erber, Schmitt, and Janković 2023). Austria presented a nationwide TBE vaccination campaign in

1981, resulting in a significant decline in reported yearly cases from 300-700 to 109 cases in 2023, as reported by the Austrian government, and a vaccination rate of above 80 % (Bundesministerium Soziales, Gesundheit, Pflege und Konsumentenschutz 2024).

1.1.3 Pathogenicity and Clinical Manifestation

The development of neuropathology in TBE is influenced by its ability to infiltrate the CNS following peripheral inoculation, known as "neuroinvasiveness", and its capability to multiply and induce harm within the CNS referred to as "neurovirulence" (Christian W. Mandl 2005). The infection cycle is outlined in Figure 3. TBEV infection initiation at the skin unfolds through a complexity of interconnected events at the host-tick interface. Langerhans cells of the epidermis are believed to transport saliva antigens to the draining lymph nodes (Nithiuthai and Allen 1985; Manuscript in preparation, Mašková et al. 2024), leading to the infection of lymphoid compartments. The virus triggers an immune response before it can disseminate into the body and lead to primary viremia. Hematogenous spread affects organs of the reticuloendothelial system like bone marrow, spleen, and liver, where the virus replicates (Haglund and Günther 2003). Following the initial spread in the peripheral systems, TBEV can manifest neurologically after passing the blood-brain barrier (BBB) during secondary viremia after cytokine release (Sudhindra 2018; Stefania et al. 2023). The BBB is formed by endothelial cells lining cerebral microvessels and serves to protect the brain from toxins and pathogens while allowing nutrients to pass. Various methods have been suggested for the potential BBB crossing of TBEV. Although a correlation between a compromised BBB and TBEV infection has been established, the breakdown seems to be a consequence of the disease progression, implying the virus' capability of crossing an intact BBB (Růžek et al. 2011). This is further supported by evidence showing that the virus can cross the BBB within the endothelial cells without disrupting the barrier, thus maintaining the structural integrity of the BBB (Palus et al. 2017). Another possible method is a cytokine-mediated entry due to the initial systemic inflammatory response to TBEV infection. TNF-α and IL-6 may lead to increased endothelial cell permeability, creating gaps that allow the virus to pass. This discussion is based on reviewed findings in related viruses (Dörrbecker et al. 2010). Alternatively, the Trojan Horse mechanism, during which the virus surpasses the BBB while hidden within infected monocytes or macrophages, has been considered (Palus et al. 2017). Although not directly

applicable to TBEV, Zika virus has been shown to migrate across the BBB via transcytosis, during which the virus is transported within endothelial cells in vesicles (Chiu et al. 2020).

TBE is primarily asymptomatic in 70-98 % of cases. In symptomatic cases, it typically manifests as a monophasic or biphasic disease, following an incubation period of 4 to 28 days with a median of 8 days (Kaiser 1999) or less in the case of foodborne infection (Hudopisk et al. 2013). The initial stage of illness lasts between 2 and 10 days and is referred to as the abortive or febrile form. It entails non-specific symptoms like mild to moderate fever, fatigue and general malaise, headache, and body pain. Additionally, although less frequently, leukopenia, thrombocytopenia, and mildly elevated serum transaminases may occur (Kaiser 1999; Lindquist and Vapalahti 2008). Diagnosis follows from virus detection via reversetranscription PCR. In about one-third of infected patients, the virus progresses to a second stage (biphasic TBE), during which it manifests neurologically (Dumpis et al. 1990). The second phase follows amelioration or a symptom-free period of 1-21 days, and the clinical spectrum includes meningitis and focal forms such as encephalitis, meningoencephalomyelitis as well as palsies of the cranial nerves that can lead to dysphagia and face paralysis. Further manifestation includes infection of the anterior horn cells of the spinal cord. Meningitis presents with symptoms such as high fever, headaches, nausea, and vomiting; while encephalitis may entail impaired consciousness ranging from drowsiness to stupor, and rarely, coma.



Figure 3. Virus Infection Cycle. Figure created by H. Mašková using BioRender.com.

Flaccid paralysis, a hallmark of meningoencephalomyelitis, often occurs after the febrile stage, and normally emerges following pain in the impacted muscle areas, with the arms more

frequently affected than the legs, and proximal parts of the limbs more susceptible than distal ones. Viral RNA is rarely present in cerebrospinal fluid in the second phase, and diagnosis is obtained serologically via enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay thus (ELISA), immunofluorescence assay, and immunoblotting, through which specific IgM and IgG antibodies are detected (Bogovic 2015; Ergunay et al. 2016). Apart from the Far Eastern subtype, reports on the occurrence of the meningeal form of TBE exceed those of meningoencephalitis across all endemic regions (Ruzek et al. 2019b). Consequently, 50 % of patients experience meningitis, as opposed to 40 % suffering from meningoencephalitis and 10 % from meningoencephalomyelitis (Kaiser 2008). More than half of patients diagnosed with the biphasic disease experience long-term sequelae, with CNS damage potentially lasting for several years (Bogovic 2015; Siemieniako-Werszko et al. 2022). Cases of chronic (progressive) illness, during which patients experience continuing disease have been reported in Russia and may be associated with genetic mutations (Lindquist and Vapalahti 2008; Ruzek et al. 2019b). Thus, a condition termed post-TBE syndrome has been discussed in multiple studies, with symptoms prevailing after recovery, and some degree of neurological impairment following TBE (Lindquist and Vapalahti 2008; Siemieniako-Werszko et al. 2022). Additionally, discussions revolving around circadian disorders emerging as a potential long-term sequelae have been reviewed, and sleep-wake and circadian disorders reportedly persist for more than a year in up to 55 % of paediatric patients and 15 % of adults (Chiffi et al. 2022)¹. However, the challenge of clinically differentiating between recuperation from acute symptoms and the emergence of long-term consequences needs to be emphasised, and more thorough experimental research models need to be developed. Recently, the TBE antibody index has been suggested as an effective predictive marker of sequelae development (Siemieniako-Werszko et al. 2022). The occurrence of TBE as well as the severity of diseases vary between the subtypes and the respective geographic region. TBEV-Eu infection usually leads to a biphasic disease and mild progression. In contrast, infections caused by TBEV-FE typically result in a higher incidence of severe neurological complications, with a mortality rate of 20 % or higher (Bogovic 2015; Ruzek et al. 2019b). Clinical progression data for TBEV-Sib is scarce, a fatality rate of 2-3 % has been reported (Poponnikova 2006). It has also been suggested that the variance in initial proinflammatory responses triggered by NS1 in

¹ Numbers rounded: As reported in the respective publication, paediatric cases ranged between 37.5 and 54.5 %, adult cases averaged at 14.8 %.

different TBEV subtypes might be one of the genetic factors affecting the severity of TBE as well as the potential development of long-term sequelae (Starodubova et al. 2023).

1.1.4 Treatment and Prevention

There are currently no specific therapeutic options available for the treatment of TBE beyond supportive and symptomatic management, including intensive care and assisted ventilation. Active immunisation effectively protects against TBE, thus endemicity control is limited to vaccination. The two approved vaccines in Europe target the Neudörfl (FSME-IMMUN) and K23 (Encepur) strains and have been modified multiple times since their introduction in 1976 (FSME-IMMUN) and 1991 (Encepur). The initial production of the first vaccine in 1971 was based on the cultivation of viral antigens in chicken embryo cells, followed by filtration, deactivation, and subsequent purification via hydroxyapatite chromatography. By means of stability enhancement, human albumin was utilised, and aluminium hydroxide served as an adjuvant (Barrett, Schober-Bendixen, and Ehrlich, 2003). Despite the availability of vaccines in endemic regions, low coverage and breakthrough infections underline the necessity for suitable therapeutic agents. Potential treatment options have been discussed in an extensive review by Ruzek et al (2019b). Moreover, the authors of this publication suggest that immunotherapy in the form of specific-anti-TBEV immunoglobulins and non-specific immunoglobulins presents a potential approach in the treatment of TBE patients (Ruzek et al. 2019b). Specific anti-TBE immunoglobulins are currently used in Russia and Kazakhstan, however, are currently no longer recommended in Europe. In contrast, high-dose intravenous immunoglobulins have been researched, and could potentially find use in post-exposure prophylaxis or therapy of severe TBE cases (Elsterova et al. 2017). TBEV infection has been shown to activate two major unfolded protein response (UPR) signalling pathways, namely inositol-requiring enzyme 1, and activating transcription factor 6 (Yu, Achazi, and Niedrig 2013). UPR is related to ER stress, which is involved in the maintenance of cellular homeostasis and the pathogenesis of various diseases, such as viral infections. These findings suggest a link between UPR pathways and successful viral replication, which could be relevant in future treatment efforts. In further endeavours, NS4A's role in TBEV's immune escape has been pointed out, implicating its potential as a target for therapeutic intervention (Yang et al. 2020). In testing the effectiveness of nucleoside analogues against TBEV, specific modifications that inhibit viral replication have been identified, the study of which could provide a basis for potential antiviral therapeutics (Eyer et al. 2016). These findings emphasise

the complexity of the structure-activity relationship due to the limited modifications showing effectiveness, thereby underscoring the difficulty of developing suitable drugs that target viral entry, replication, and assembly; and can cross the BBB to exert their therapeutic effect on the virus within the brain. NS1 has been identified as a promising component in future vaccine development (Beicht et al. 2023). In addition, a novel ELISA diagnostic tool for the detection of NS1-specific IgG antibodies has recently been reported on, stressing the protein's relevance in the accurate diagnosis process and future treatment endeavors (Girl et al. 2020). The urgency for treatment options is further manifested by the dynamic endemicity that is subject to climate change. Increasing temperatures and mild conditions are favourable for tick populations and can lead to an expansion of endemic areas (Heinz et al. 2015; Semenza and Suk 2018). Lower temperatures and different precipitation patterns reportedly lead to changes in latitudinal and altitudinal tick distribution (Voyiatzaki et al. 2022). Apart from socioeconomic and ecological factors, tick vector activity and transmission patterns are expected to be impacted significantly by global warming, resulting in an increased transmission potential, extended tick seasons, and a higher number of susceptible ticks (Nah et al. 2020). These shifting dynamics call for an increased effort to monitor tick-borne infection behaviour and adjust vaccine and disease-prevention strategies (Kaaijk and Luytjes 2018).

1.2 α-Spinasterol

Spinasterols are phytosterols, which are bioactive components of plant cells that are similar to cholesterol in their structure. As is common for phytosterols, spinasterols are found in seeds, leaves, and fruit of plants, as well as marine organisms. α -Spinasterol (ASP), also known as bessisterol or hitodesterol, was initially isolated from Alfalfa and spinach leaves (Hart and Heyl 1932; Fernholz and Moore 1939; Armarego, Goad, and Goodwin 1973; Adler and Salt 1983). It naturally occurs in spinach leaves, cucumber, pumpkin, and melon seeds, seed oils and argan oil, among others.

1.2.1 Chemical Structure and Properties

ASP is a steroid derived from a hydride of stigmastane, which is a saturated sterol without double bonds in its ring structure. The chemical structure is displayed in Figure 4. ASP is comprised of a complex ring structure with multiple chiral centres, as is common for steroidal

compounds. The steroid nucleus is a carbon framework composed of three cyclohexane rings and a cyclopentane ring. The hydroxyl group attached to the first ring indicates its function in membranes, as is the case for cholesterol. The methyl groups attached to the rings are involved in the molecule's hydrophobicity and might affect its position within lipid bilayers. The double bond in the second ring is typical for unsaturated sterols and can impact the molecule's rigidity. The hydrocarbon side chain attached to the ring and ending in an ethyl group is another structural detail characteristic of sterols and is important for the interaction with lipid bilayers.



Figure 4. Chemical structure of ASP. Figure created by H. Mašková in ChemSketch Free Version.

1.2.2 Pharmacology of α-Spinasterol

In mammals, cholesterol plays an important role in the maintenance of the structural integrity and fluidity of cell membranes by inserting itself between phospholipid molecules in the membrane, which results in a modulation of its permeability and fluidity. Apart from the formation of lipid rafts, it is also involved in cell signalling. In plants and fungi, multiple compounds that structurally resemble cholesterol contribute similarly to membrane properties (Haralampiev et al. 2017). Due to this mimicking effect, ASP could potentially facilitate lowering cholesterol levels and thereby contribute to cardiovascular health (Piironen et al. 2000). Plant sterols have thus been implied to have a positive impact on health (Berger, Jones, and Abumweis 2004; Kopylov et al. 2021), and research interest has been developed to investigate ASP's potential pharmacological profile, which includes cytotoxicity, antiinflammatory, antimicrobial, and antioxidant activity (Coballase-Urrutia et al. 2010; Borges et al. 2014; X. Yang et al. 2017; Sedky et al. 2018). ASP was identified as a novel antagonist of the TRPV1 receptor and has been reported to display antioedematogenic and antinociceptive characteristics, decreasing pain and inflammation without impacting body temperature or locomotor activity in animal models (Trevisan et al. 2012). Reinforcing the role of TRPV1 receptor antagonism in the treatment of mental health disorders, ASP has additionally been shown to exert antidepressant-like properties without exhibiting significant anxiolytic-like features (Socała and Wlaź 2016). Highlighting potential BBB permeability, it was further suggested that ASP displays anticonvulsant qualities and may elevate seizure thresholds (Socała et al. 2015). According to more recent research, glucose uptake in skeleton muscle cells and insulin secretion in pancreatic β -cells can be affected by ASP (Lee et al. 2022), supporting claims suggesting ASP as a potential anti-diabetic agent (Jeong et al. 2004). Additionally, an inhibitory effect against the cholinesterase enzyme was reported, which, in addition to diabetes mellitus, is relevant in research focusing on developing therapies for Alzheimer's disease (Lawal et al. 2020). A review of the pharmacological findings by Majeed et al. (2022) has recently highlighted ASP's nutraceutical potential for effectively managing various health concerns given the wide range of pharmacological indications.

1.2.2.1 Antibacterial Effects and Cytotoxicity

ASP extracted from *Cucumis dipsaceus* was tested for antibacterial activity and was found to impact the bacterial growth of *Escherichia coli*, *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, and *Streptococcus pyogenes* (Assefa et al. 2024). ASP has also been studied as an antibacterial agent in combination with the antibiotic Ceftiofur and showed increased efficacy against four pathogenic strains, namely *Salmonella pullorum* CVCC 533, *Str. pneumoniae* CAU0070, *E. coli*, and *Staphylococcus aureus* (Yang et al. 2017). These findings align with results demonstrating Spinasterol's antibacterial and bactericidal activity against *Helicobacter pylori* (Wang et al. 2011). A study assessing ASP isolated from *Impatiens glandulifera* roots furthermore concluded that ASP was cytotoxic to blood cells after a 2-day incubation period, with a reduction in metabolic activity of about 50 %; however, it did not exhibit significant cytotoxicity on hepatic cells (Vrchotová et al. 2024). These results highlight the compound's potential for antimicrobial application, especially concerning pathogens affecting the liver.

1.2.2.2 Spinasterols as Potential Antiviral Agents

An insufficient amount of research has been published about ASP as an antiviral agent. However, despite the limited available research, some findings allow for cautious optimism about its potential. ASP is among the phytoconstituents recently investigated for their possible antiviral activity in a study focusing on interactions with SARS-CoV-2 proteins. Spinasterol was also effective in targeting the SARS-CoV-2 main protease in a recently published preprint (Palanisamy et al. 2022). ASP demonstrated significant binding affinity with two viral proteins, suggesting its potential in future antiviral research efforts (Siddiqui et al. 2022). Additionally, Spinasterol was shown to bind an enzyme critical for coronavirus replication in research endeavours identifying protease inhibitors (Zubair et al. 2021). While little research exists on the antiviral effects of ASP, several plant extracts containing the compound have shown relevant biological activity. For example, extracts of *Bupleurum marginatum* were shown to have antitrypanosomal, antimicrobial, and antiviral activity against the hepatitis A virus at certain concentrations (Ashour et al. 2014). Another plant extract from *Platycodon grandiflorum* demonstrated antiviral activity against hepatitis C virus in mice and inhibition of its RNA replication (Kim et al. 2012). In addition to the above-mentioned results regarding SARS-CoV-2, hepatitis A and C, Spinasterol was among some compounds demonstrating anti-HIV activity in H9 lymphocytes (Hsieh et al. 2004). No research has been conducted on TBEV, and although hardly conclusive, the above outlined results, specifically regarding RNA viruses, offer insights relevant to future research on the biological effects of ASP and its role as an inhibitor of viruses.

2 Aims and Objectives

- Determination of cytotoxic concentrations of α-Spinasterol for a DAOY-HTB 186 medulloblastoma cell line.
- Determination of the inhibitory concentration of α -Spinasterol during TBEV infection.
- Examination of the effects of α-Spinasterol on TBEV replication and the production of newly created virions using a selected concentration of α-Spinasterol.

3 Materials and Methods

3.1 Cells and Viruses

Medulloblastoma DAOY (ATCC HTB-186) and A549 (human lung adenocarcinoma cells, kindly gifted by R. Randall, University of St. Andrews, UK) cell lines were cultivated in low glucose Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (D-MEM) medium with stable glutamine and sodium pyruvate (Biosera) supplemented with 10 % fetal bovine serum (FBS, Cytiva), 1 % antibiotics (ATB, Penicillin-streptomycin solution 100x (10⁷ U/l), Biosera) (complete DMEM medium) at 37 °C with 5 % CO₂, and passaged twice per week. DAOY cell line was chosen as an appropriate type of cell since TBEV infects the central nervous system. A549 cells were used for plaque assay experiments. TBEV-Eu strains Hypr and Neudörfl were used for the infection of DAOY cells and the examination of the potential antiviral effect of ASP. TBEV Hypr and TBEV Neudörfl used in the experiments were passaged once in Vero E6 cells (ATCC CRL-1586). The stock concentrations used were 3*10⁷ PFU/mL and 3.73*10⁶ PFU/mL for TBEV Hypr and TBEV Neudörfl, respectively.

3.2 Cell Seeding and Cytotoxicity

DAOY cells were seeded at a density of 10^4 cells/well for 96-well plates. The cells were let to adhere for 4-5 hours prior to ASP-addition. Purified ASP extract from *I. glandulifera* was obtained from Prof. Ing. Jan Tříska, CSc's group. ASP extract was prepared according to the published protocol (Vrchotová et al. 2024). ASP powder was dissolved in DMSO to get a stock concentration of 10 mg/mL. The following examined dilutions were prepared: 100, 50, 25, 10, 5, 2.5, 1, 0.5, 0.25, 0.1 µg/mL. All these dilutions contained 1 % DMSO and a complete DMEM medium.

After the cells adhered to the wells, the medium was removed, and media with different examined concentrations were added. The control cells with 1 % DMSO were also prepared. Cells were incubated at 37 °C with 5 % CO₂ atmosphere until the measurement day. Cytotoxicity was measured on days one, two, and four after the addition of ASP using the alamarBlue reagent (Thermo Fisher Scientific). On selected days, the medium was removed from each well, and fresh medium with alamarBlue reagent (10:1, v/v) was added. After a 1.5 -hour incubation period at 37°C in a 5 % CO₂ atmosphere, the fluorescence was measured using a Tecan Infinite M200 spectrophotometer, with excitation set to 550 nm and emission

set to 590 nm. The blank value was subtracted from each measurement and the relative viability of cells with ASP was calculated in comparison to the control cells. The control cells represent the 100 % level of relative viability. The whole experiment was performed in technical and biological triplicates.

3.3 Viral Infection and Sample Collection

Two variants of ASP administration were chosen to examine the antiviral effect on TBEV. One group received ASP on the same day as TBEV infection (ASP+TBEV), and the second group (ASP/TBEV) received ASP one day before TBEV infection, and again after infection to preserve the ASP effect, to examine the prophylactic effect of ASP. First, the inhibitory effect of ASP on TBEV was examined. Cells were seeded in a 96-well plate as described in 3.1. ASP was added according to the examined variants. TBEV infection using Hypr and Neudörfl strains was performed at a multiplicity of infection (MOI) 1, on cells containing prophylactic ASP (ASP/TBEV) or plain medium (ASP+TBEV). Positive control (PC) infected with TBEV and containing 1 % DMSO, and negative control (NC) containing mock (medium from noninfected Vero E6 cells) and 1 % DMSO were also prepared. The virus was removed after an incubation period of 2 hours at 37 °C with 5 % CO₂, washed with Phosphate Buffered Saline (PBS), and replaced with medium containing 1 % DMSO (PC, NC) or ASP (ASP+TBEV, ASP/TBEV). Cell viability was measured as described previously in Chapter 3.2, 2 days postinfection (dpi) for samples infected with Hypr, and 4 dpi for samples infected with Neudörfl. Based on the results, the most suitable concentration showing the highest viability ratio to PC was selected for each strain, and the experiments were repeated in 12-well plates to obtain a sufficient number of cells for RNA isolation and media for plaque assay. The used concentration of the cells for 12-well plates was $5*10^5$ cells/well.

3.4 RNA Isolation and LiCl-Precipitation

On collection days, medium was collected from the cells in 12-well plates for the plaque assay. The cells were washed with PBS. For the collection, 200 μ L PBS was added, and cells were scraped off the wells, resuspended in PBS, and collected in tubes. RNA isolation was performed using a B-200 Nucleic Acid Extraction Kit (Zybio) in EXM3000 Nucleic Isolation System (Zybio) according to the manufacturer's manual.

Lithium chloride precipitation was performed on all samples to remove DNA (Barlow et al. 1963; Gautam 2022), according to the protocol provided by Invitrogen. Solutions of 2.5 M LiCl in RNA were prepared and stored at -20 °C overnight. The samples were centrifuged at 17 000 x g for 60 minutes. The resulting pellets were washed with ice-cold 70 % ethanol (prepared with DEPC-treated water) and centrifuged for 20 minutes. The pellets were resuspended in nuclease-free water, and RNA concentration measurements were conducted using a Nanophotometer (Implen).

3.5 NS1 and HPRT qRT-PCR Assay

For qRT-PCR, the housekeeping gene Hypoxanthine Guanine Phosphoribosyltransferase (HPRT) and the viral NS1 were chosen. The RNA samples processed in chapter 3.3 were used for qRT-PCR. The detection of NS1 was performed using KAPA PROBE FAST One-Step qRT-PCR Master Mix (Kapa Biosystems) with the composition for one reaction mentioned in Table 1 and with the qRT-PCR parameters showed in Table 2. The primers (TBE F: TggAYTTYAgACAggAAYCAACACA; and TBE R: TCCAgAgACTYTgRTCDgTgTggA) and hydrolysis minor groove binder (MGB) probe (FAM-CCCATCACTCCWgTgTCAC-MGB-NFQ for TBEV detection were used according to a previously established protocol (Achazi et al. 2011), HPRT detection was performed with the KAPA SYBR FAST Universal One-Step qRT-PCR Kit (Kapa Biosystems). The sequences of used HPRT primers were HPRT F: TGACACTGGCAAAACAATGCA and HPRT R: GGTCCTTTTCACCAGCAAGCT. The composition of one reaction is listed in Table 3, and the qRT-PCR programme is shown in Table 4. qRT-PCR reactions were performed in the thermocycler CFX96 Touch Real-Time PCR System (Bio-Rad). The threshold cycles (Ct) were exported using CFX Maestro software (Bio-Rad).

Table 1: Composition for one reaction (NS1)

Component	Volume	
2x Kapa Mastermix	7.5 μL	
ddH2O	1.1 μL	
F Primer 20 µM	0.9 µL	
R Primer 20 µM	0.3 µL	
50 x Kapa RT mix	0.3 µL	
RNA template	4 μL	
(20 ng/µL)		

Table 2: qRT-PCR parameters (NS1)

Program	°C	t	
Reverse	42	10 min	
transcription			
Enzyme inactivation	95	5 min	
Denaturation	95	5 sec	
Primers annealing	60	34 sec	
45 two-step cycles (denaturation &			
annealing)			

Table 4: qRT-PCR parameters (HPRT)

Program	°C	t
Reverse	42	10 min
transcription		
Enzyme inactivation	95	5 min
Denaturation	95	5 sec
Primers annealing	60	30 sec
40 two-step cycles	(denatur	ation &
annealing)		

Table 3: Composition for one reaction (HPRT)

Component	Volume
2x Kapa Mastermix	7.5 μL
ddH2O	2.3 μL
F Primer 20 µM	0.45 μL
R Primer 20 µM	0.45 μL
50 x RT mix	0.3 µL
RNA template	4 μL
(20 ng/µL)	

3.6 Plaque Assay

A suspension of A549 cells was prepared at a concentration of $5*10^5$ cells/mL. A decimal dilution of the samples (20 µL) collected in chapter 3.3 was created in 24-well plates with 180 µL of complete DMEM medium. The cell suspension was added (300 µL), and cells were incubated for 4 hours at 37 °C with 5 % CO₂. A solution containing 3 % carboxymethylcellulose with 2x concentrated DMEM medium with 20 % FBS, 2 % ATB, and 2 % L-glutamine (1:1) was prepared and added to each well (400 µL). Prior to staining, the cells were incubated for 5 days at 37 °C with 5 % CO₂. The cells were rinsed with a saline solution (0.9 % NaCl) and stained in Naphthalene black solution (1 g naphthalene black, 62.5 mL glacial acetic acid, 13.6 g sodium acetate, filled to 1 L with distilled water) for 60 minutes to visualise the plaques. After drying, the plaques were counted, and the viral titres were determined (PFU/mL).

3.6 Statisical Analysis

Relative viability, $\Delta\Delta$ Ct and viral titres were calculated using Microsoft Office Excel 365. Statistical analyses and graphs were created in the GraphPad Prism software (version 10.2.2., GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA, US) using two-way analyses of variance (ANOVA) with Fisher's LSD post-hoc test. Statistical significance levels were determined as * p<0.05, ** p<0.01. The calculation of half maximal inhibitory concentration IC₅₀ was performed using Nonlinear Regression: Dose-response-inhibition with Variable slope in the GraphPad Prism software.

4 Results

4.1 α-Spinasterol Cytotoxicity

Determining the studied substance's cytotoxicity is an important initial step when considering its potential as an antiviral agent to ensure its safety for the cells it will interact with. By understanding the cytotoxicity, a maximum concentration usable to inhibit viral activity without causing unproportionable damage to the cells should be determined. Cytotoxicity is assessed by measuring the cell viability of samples treated with alamarBlue, which indicates cellular metabolic activity. AlamarBlue contains the non-fluorescent and non-toxic blue dye resazurin, which is reduced to the pink and highly fluorescent substance resorufin by metabolically active cells. Based on the degree of this reduction after several hours of incubation, the viability of the cells can be determined by measuring the fluorescence. Figure 5 presents the relative cell viability changes post-ASP treatment. The spectrophotometric measurements were conducted at three time points: On the first (blue crosses), second (orange circles) and fourth (grey triangles) day following the treatment with ASP. The 24-hour measurement shows an immediate effect of the substance on the cells, while the 48-hour interval allows for the detection of intermediate responses caused by slower mechanisms of action. The third time interval allows for the observation of long-term effects. This selection of incubation periods has been suggested to be sufficient for ASP to develop its biological effects (Vrchotová et al. 2024). The viability percentages are normalised to a control group treated with 1 % DMSO (dotted green line) instead of ASP, allowing a direct comparison of ASP's effect on cell viability. The horizontal solid red line indicates a threshold of 80 % viability and serves as a reference for substantial viability reduction. On the first day post-treatment, only the highest tested concentration of 100 µg/mL falls below the threshold (average 51 %). On the second day, cell viability of the groups containing 25, 50, and 100 µg/mL ASP fell below 80 % (67 %, 27 %, and 21 %, respectively). On day four, the concentration of 50 and 100 µg/mL undercut the 80 % threshold significantly at 23 % and 28 %, respectively. These initial experiments aimed to determine two concentrations that balance effectiveness and risk of cytotoxicity. The results in Figure 4 show that ASP addition at concentrations above 25 μ g/mL may be cytotoxic and, therefore, deemed unsuitable for subsequent experiments. The concentrations of 25 and 10 µg/mL were determined as potential candidates for future testing as antiviral agents in TBEV-infected cells.



Figure 5. Development of Relative Cell Viability Following ASP Treatment. Viability was measured on the 1st (blue crosses), 2nd (orange circles), and 4th (grey triangles) day post-ASP addition at varying concentrations ranging from 0.1 to 100 μ g/mL. The red solid line indicates an 80 % viability threshold. The dotted green line represents the viability of the control group treated with 1 % DMSO. Statistical analysis was performed using two-way ANOVA with Fisher LSD post-hoc test in GraphPad Prism (version 10.2.2). * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01

Moreover, half maximal inhibitory concentration IC₅₀, showing the concentration where cell viability is reduced by 50 %, was calculated. On the first day, the highest tested ASP concentration did not decrease cell viability below 50 %, meaning short-term exposure to the substance did not entail immediate cytotoxic effects. On the second day following the ASP addition, the IC₅₀ was determined to be 30 μ g/mL. By the fourth and final day of measurements, IC₅₀ was slightly lower, at 27.24 μ g/mL. The average IC₅₀ for ASP cytotoxicity was calculated to be 28.6 μ g/mL from data on the second and fourth day following ASP treatment.

4.2 Inhibitory Effects of ASP on TBEV

Two closely related European TBEV strains with varying virulence were chosen to examine the effect on ASP-treated cells using two variants of ASP addition. Hypr has been characterised as highly virulent with higher neuro-invasiveness in mice than the prototypic low-virulence strain Neudörfl (Wallner et al. 1996; Mandl et al. 1997). Testing two strains allows for a comparison when evaluating the effectiveness of the substance applied on a low- versus a high-virulence strain and enhances the relevance of the results. All ASP concentrations were examined to determine the most appropriate concentration for further analysis. A delayed onset of cytotoxic effects caused by the virus has been shown, thus the 24-hour interval is not measured following TBEV-infection (Selinger et al. 2019; Brzuska et al. 2020).

Hypr Strain

The relative viability of Hypr-infected cells under two conditions is shown in Figure 6: One group received a prophylactic ASP treatment (ASP/TBEV Hypr, depicted in blue) and the second group was infected without preceding prophylaxis and solely received ASP at the time of infection (ASP+TBEV Hypr, depicted in red). Viability percentages of both groups are benchmarked to a positive control group (PC, dotted green line), representing TBEV-infected cells with 1 % DMSO added to the medium that did not receive any ASP. The prophylactic group shows a trend exceeding the 100 % benchmark. At ASP concentrations of 0.1 and 25 μ g/mL (marked by red asterisks), a statistically significant increase in cell viability (150 % and 135 %, respectively) can be observed for the prophylactic group compared to the PC. Moreover, the results from ASP concentrations of 5 and 10 μ g/mL showed trends of increased viability (147 % and 151 %, respectively); however, with no statistical significance, this is caused by wide standard deviation among samples. In contrast, the group treated with ASP at the time of infection demonstrates reduced cell viability, especially at higher ASP concentrations, as indicated by the blue asterisks. The results were compared to PC instead of NC to show the differences between the infected cells and treated cells.



Figure 6. Relative Viability of Hypr-Infected Cells under Different ASP Treatment Conditions. The bar graph compares the relative viability of cells infected with TBEV Hypr under two conditions: Prophylactic ASP treatment before infection (red, ASP/TBEV Hypr) and ASP treatment simultaneously with the infection (blue, ASP+TBEV Hypr). Viability percentages were normalised to a positive control (dotted green line). Significant deviations from the control were indicated by colour-matched asterisks (*) represented in the respective colour of the group. Statistical analysis was performed using two-way ANOVA with Fisher LSD post-hoc test in GraphPad Prism (version 10.2.2). * p < 0.05

Neudörfl Strain

Figure 7 outlines the results of the measured relative cell viability following infection with the Neudörfl strain under two distinct conditions: The prophylactic group (ASP/TBEV Neu, depicted in grey) received ASP prior to and following viral infection. The second group (ASP+TBEV Neu, depicted in yellow) was treated with ASP at the time of infection without prior treatment. The prophylactic group shows increased viability and surpasses the 100 % benchmark compared to PC throughout most tested concentrations. The differences are not statistically significant due to the wide standard deviation of the three independent measurements, however, the concentrations 5 and 10 μ g/mL are particularly notable as they almost doubled in relative viability, more concretely 196 % and 198 %, respectively. The group treated at the time of infection shows a contrast in viability compared to the prophylactic group, with all tested concentrations falling below the baseline established by the positive control group, with an average of 51 % viability. As highlighted by the asterisks, the concentrations 0.5, 1, 50, and 100 μ g/mL ASP deviate significantly from the positive control and fall below an average of 35%.



Figure 7. Relative Viability of Neudörfl-Infected Cells under Different ASP Treatment Conditions. Cell viability of Neudörfl-infected cells under varying conditions is compared. The prophylactic group (ASP/TBEV Neu, in grey) received ASP treatment prior to and post-infection, while the simultaneous treatment group (ASP+TBEV Neu, in yellow) only received ASP at the same time as the infection. The positive control group (green dotted line) represents infected cells that received no ASP treatment. Significant differences from the control group are indicated with colour-matched asterisks.

Based on the outlined results, the ASP concentrations of 10 and 25 μ g/mL were initially considered for further testing (Chapt 4.1). However, since the latter was approaching the IC₅₀ average value (28.6 μ g/mL), only the concentration of 10 μ g/mL was finally selected since it seemed to remain well above the threshold that exhibits significant loss in cell viability over the monitored time period.

4.2 qRT-PCR

To determine the antiviral effect of ASP, the level of viral RNA present in the examined cells was detected via real-time quantitative reverse transcription PCR (qRT-PCR), which measures the relative RNA concentration fold change of the TBEV NS1 gene. Results were evaluated using the $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method, where the expression of the gene of interest (NS1 gene) in tested samples and controls was normalised to the expression of the reference housekeeping gene (HPRT). The NC samples were also examined with no detection of the TBEV NS1 gene. The red dashed line represents the PC baseline. The ASP+TBEV Hypr group shows a high relative RNA amount fold change with an average of 3.35, although considerable variability is indicated by the respective error bar. The relative RNA amount fold change is lower in the prophylactic group (ASP/TBEV Hypr) with an average value of 1.11. At an average of 1.80, the RNA amount fold change in the ASP+TBEV group infected with the Neudörfl strain is much lower compared to the respective Hypr group and almost doubles compared to PC. Exhibiting a similar level, the prophylactic group (ASP/TBEV Neu) shows the lowest relative RNA fold change among all tested conditions, with its average level of 0.88 just below the baseline (Figure 8).



Figure 8. Representation of the Relative RNA Fold Change of the NS1 Gene of TBEV via qRT-PCR. The quantified NS1 gene expression levels were normalised to the housekeeping gene HPRT using the $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method. The results are presented relative to the PC, displayed as a red dashed line, which reflects the baseline level of viral replication without ASP addition. The green bars represent the different experimental conditions: ASP-addition at the time of Hypr or Neudörfl infection (ASP+TBEV Hypr, ASP+TBEV Neu), and prophylactic ASP addition (ASP/TBEV Hypr, ASP/TBEV Neu). The black error bars denote the standard deviation of the mean for each tested condition, which indicates the variability of the replicates.

4.3 Plaque Assay

A combination of techniques enables a more informed interpretation, thus in addition to tracking changes in viral RNA levels, plaque assays were performed to assess virion production. The titre is a measure of the infectious viral particle concentration in the examined samples. Figure 9 presents the viral titres in terms of plaque-forming units per millilitre (PFU/mL), which assesses the impact of ASP addition on viral replication. No virions were detected in the NC samples prepared during the experiment. Figure 9 shows the viral titre of ASP-treated samples, displayed in blue, to PC, in red. With an average value of 6.65 logPFU/mL, the prophylactic Neudörfl group (ASP/TBEV Neu) showed a lower average logPFU/mL compared to the group that received ASP simultaneously with the Neudörfl strain (ASP+TBEV Neu), with an average of 6.8 logPFU/mL. This compares to an average of 6.59 and 6.84 logPFU/mL in the respective positive control groups. The averages for the analysed Hypr groups are higher in ASP+TBEV Hypr and ASP/TBEV Hypr than the Neudörfl groups, with average values of 7.05 and 6.99 logPFU/mL, respectively. The positive control groups average 7.09 and 7.17 logPFU/mL, respectively. The results show no substantial difference

between the prophylactic and simultaneous treatment within the Hypr groups, and statistically irrelevant differences between the ASP-treated versus the control groups.



Figure 9. Comparative Analysis of Viral Titre. The graph represents viral titres results showing the average number of plaque-forming units formed across different experimental conditions (in blue), compared to the positive control displayed in red.

5 Discussion

TBEV is an orthoflavivirus which causes TBE, an infection of the central nervous system. It exhibits widespread geographic distribution and is endemic in various European countries (ECDC 2022). TBE is often asymptomatic and is preventable through vaccination, however, there is an urgent need to develop antiviral therapeutics that target TBEV. This relevance is further underscored by the apparent effect of climate change on the endemic tick and tickborne disease dynamics (Voyiatzaki et al. 2022). In this quest, the assessment of phytochemicals exhibiting antiviral activity as therapies could aid in discovering novel treatments (Naithani et al. 2010). Some progress has been made in the past years, and several agents of plant origin have been shown to be effective in inhibiting TBEV and other viruses (Talactac et al. 2016; Leonova et al. 2020; Khasnatinov et al. 2021; Mammari et al. 2021).

ASP is a compound of a great therapeutic potential, and although scarce literature evaluating its antiviral activity is available, and no findings regarding the compound's ability to interfere with TBEV have been published, its pharmacological profile has been vastly reported on (Majeed et al. 2022). Therefore, hypothesising about ASP's potential antiviral properties requires a speculative approach based on existing knowledge of its mechanism of action, as well as the established characteristics of TBEV and other viruses. First, sterols are essential components of eukaryotic cell membranes and play a role in the governance of membrane fluidity and permeability (Hartmann 1998; Piironen et al. 2000; Rogowska and Szakiel 2020). ASP may incorporate into the viral envelope or host cell membrane, thereby interfering with the entry or attachment of the virus into the host cell by modifying the composition of the cell membrane. Second, ASP may be a protease inhibitor (Palanisamy et al. 2022). If ASP can penetrate infected host cells, it could potentially show an inhibitory effect against the TBEV NS2B-NS3 protease complex. Third, ASP exhibits anti-inflammatory properties (Jeong et al. 2010; Lee et al. 2012; Borges et al. 2014). This effect could lead to a modulation of the host's immune response to viral infection. Fourth, ASP has demonstrated antioxidant properties (Jeong et al. 2004; Lawal et al. 2020). These might facilitate the mitigation of oxidative stress in infected host cells, which may affect the life cycle of TBEV. More research is needed to establish hypotheses about the mechanisms of action as well as prospective biological applications of ASP.

Assessing the cytotoxicity is considered an essential step preceding experiments testing a compound's biological effects (Di Nunzio et al. 2017). This can further help in subsequent research on the mechanism of action, where it is important to distinguish between

the antiviral activity of a substance and its cytotoxic effects when interpreting results. Furthermore, this is a common initial step in protocols studying antiviral effects against TBEV (Krylova et al. 2018; Leonova et al. 2020; Tang et al. 2023). The performed cytotoxicity assay compared ASP's continuous effects on cell viability over a period of 4 days. The viability was compared to a baseline of 80 %. This is based on characterisation guidelines of the International Organization for Standardization, which deem values below 80 % indicative of cytotoxicity (ISO 2009). The IC₅₀ calculations yielded an average of 28.6 µg/mL and for the higher concentrations, a substantial decrease in cell viability was observed on the second and fourth day. This suggests that the mechanism of action causing cytotoxicity might not occur immediately. The calculated IC₅₀ values are lower than previous findings, where hexane was used instead of DMSO as a solvent (Vrchotová et al. 2024). These differences may be attributed to the properties of the solvents used. DMSO could enhance cellular penetration of ASP across cell membranes (Brayton 1986) and is commonly used as a cryopreservant at 10 % (Whaley et al. 2021), while hexane may result in a reduced interaction of ASP with the cells due to its poorer solubility in the polar environment of cellular interiors (Corby and Elworthy 2011).

Various experimental schemes have been applied in the study of novel antiviral compounds, some of which include a comparison between prophylactic and post-infection treatment (Tang et al. 2023; Leonova et al. 2020; Talactac et al. 2016; Krylova et al. 2018). Although unrelated to TBEV research, the "time-of-addition" method has been established to narrow down the mechanism of action of a novel compound by assessing the time of administration as a crucial factor in interfering with the viral replication process (Daelemans et al. 2011). Additionally, in an assessment of the antiviral activity of a compound from the *Zosteraceae* family, potential preventive, and inhibitory effects against TBEV were analysed to study the mechanism of action (Krylova et al. 2018).

Thus, a similar time-dependent approach was chosen for this project and two experimental conditions were set for the assessment of ASP as an antiviral agent, thereby potentially targeting early viral entry, as well as interfering with viral replication at a later stage of infection. The first group, depicted in red bars in Figure 6 (ASP/TBEV Hypr) received prophylactic ASP. This condition represents ASP treatment as a preventive measure to assess whether administration before viral exposure can prevent or reduce the infection. The second group, displayed as blue bars (ASP+TBEV) in Figure 6, represents an acute treatment scenario. Here, the aim is to evaluate ASP's ability to combat the virus once the infection has

proceeded. This experimental design gives insights into ASP's ability to interfere with the early stages of the infection and its effectiveness after the virus has started replicating.

In Figure 6, the development of cell viability following Hypr-infection is visualised. The general trend suggests a higher viability of the prophylactic group (ASP/TBEV Hypr) compared to the group receiving ASP at the time of viral infection (ASP+TBEV Hypr). This aligns with previous findings applying an experimental scheme that included the assessment of a compound's preventive potential (Leonova et al. 2020).

Most viability values in the prophylactic group exceed 100 %, suggesting not just cell survival but proliferation. This might mean that ASP treatment potentially promotes cell growth when added before and again after infection. In contrast, the main reason for a decrease in cell viability as highlighted by blue asterisks in Figure 6 may be the toxic effect of TBEV. The result suggests that, unless countered by ASP, the presence of the virus reduces the cell's ability to survive. When comparing the two examined conditions, it is evident that prophylactic treatment seems generally more effective at maintaining cell viability across most tested concentrations compared to the treatment administered simultaneously with infection (ASP+TBEV Hypr). This may suggest that ASP potentially provides some protection when added prior to viral exposure. The statistical significance noted in some of the higher concentrations means that the differences observed are likely not due to chance and there might be a causal effect. This suggests a concentration-dependent effect of ASP when administered as a prophylactic treatment.

While this partially holds true in the case of the Neudörfl-infected cells, the results presented in Figure 7 are less consistent. The ASP+TBEV Neu group generally shows low viability compared to PC, while the prophylactic ASP/TBEV Neu group exceeds the viability threshold of 100 % in most concentrations. Notably, the addition of ASP at concentrations of 50 µg/mL and higher, combined with viral infection causes a stark decrease in viability, probably due to ASP's cytotoxic potential and TBEV activity. As is the case with the Hypr-infected cells, the prophylactic Neudörfl group shows a trend in increased viability compared to those cells receiving ASP concurrently with viral infection. In comparison, the viability trends of Neudörfl-infected and Hypr-infected cells correspond to the virulence of the strains (Wallner et al. 1996). In Figure 6, viability values are generally closer to the PC, while in Figure 7, there is a higher contrast in values across concentrations and groups. From this, it can be inferred that the more invasive Hypr strain damages the cells more severely compared to Neudörfl in the ASP/TBEV group. This coincides with findings of a previously published comparison between these TBEV strains, according to which the viability of Hypr-infected cells was affected more gravely than those infected with Neudörfl (Selinger et al. 2019). Based on the assessment of a balance between minimal cytotoxicity and maximum potential antiviral effects, the ASP concentration of 10 μ g/mL was deemed suitable for further testing, although testing 25 μ g/mL is highly recommended for future research.

In the interpretation of RT-qPCR results, levels rising above the baseline level of viral replication represented by the PC indicate an increase in NS1 gene expression, while levels below the baseline suggest reduced expression. Relative quantification and normalisation using the $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method has been described in a recent publication studying TBEV (Selinger et al. 2019). The average RNA fold changes of 3.35 and 1.80 for the ASP+TBEV Hypr and ASP+TBEV Neu groups, respectively, are higher than the baseline, suggesting an increase in viral replication or in NS1 gene expression in the groups that received ASP simultaneously with viral infection. However, a lack of significance is indicated by wide error bars. Significant viral RNA production was observed despite ASP addition, indicating little antiviral effectiveness of ASP, especially against Hypr. Notably, the wide standard deviations imply variability. In contrast, the average RNA fold changes of 1.11 for the ASP/TBEV Hypr group, and 0.88 for the ASP/TBEV Neu group could indicate an inhibitory effect of a prophylactic ASP administration, although this effect would predominantly apply to the cells infected with the Neudörfl strain, which are the sole group exhibiting levels below the PC with a small standard deviation. The reduced levels displayed by the Neudörfl groups compared to Hypr are likely representative of the strain's lower virulence, and possibly imply a straindependence of ASP's effectiveness. As was discussed previously, ASP may affect virion assembly or protein production and hence the production of infectious virions (Siddiqui et al. 2022). Thus, the determination of viral titres by plaque assay in addition to quantitative RNA measurements were important to gain more conclusive insights. The results from the performed plaque assay do not indicate a significant inhibitory effect of ASP across all experimental conditions. The average of 7.05 logPFU/mL of the ASP+TBEV Hypr group indicates a negligible reduction of viral titre compared to 7.09 logPFU/mL in the PC. The effect of ASP is similarly weak in the prophylactic Hypr group, with an average of 6.99 logPFU/mL compared to the 7.17 logPFU/mL in the PC. In the ASP+TBEV Neu group, the average of 6.81 logPFU/mL is almost identical to the average of 6.84 logPFU/mL in the PC and differs only slightly from the PC in the prophylactic group (6.65 logPFU/mL in ASP/TBEV Neu versus 6.59 logPFU/mL in PC). Interestingly, the titre is higher in the ASPtreated group than in the PC, possibly due to the positively affected cell viability by ASP.

ASP has not been thoroughly studied as a potential antiviral agent, although the following observations may be taken into consideration: ASP was among several active phytocomponents analysed and screened for their ligand-protein interactions in a comparison of antiviral drugs used against SARS-CoV-2 proteins, as well as for their interaction with the SARS-CoV-2 main protease (Palanisamy et al. 2022; Siddiqui et al. 2022). ASP demonstrated a complementary fit in the studied viral protein binding pockets (Siddiqui et al. 2022). ASP reportedly shows relevant binding affinities with the N-terminal RNA-binding domain and the Papain-like protease, which are involved in viral assembly, as well as processing viral proteins, thus in viral replication (Siddiqui et al. 2022). It also exhibited strong binding affinity to the SARS-CoV-2 main protease, suggesting the ASP could inhibit the protease activity required for viral replication (Palanisamy et al. 2022).

Like TBEV, SARS-CoV-2 is a +ssRNA virus, and although proteases are different in coronaviruses and orthoflaviviruses, some of the findings may have the potential to translate to TBEV. No direct comparison can be drawn between our results and the cited publications due to different methodological approaches, however, molecular docking studies and studying the molecular dynamics might reveal insights into the binding affinities of ASP to TBEV proteins.

In summary, we have shown that ASP at higher concentrations demonstrated cytotoxic effects on medulloblastoma cells, which reinforces findings suggesting ASP's antitumour effects (Sedky et al. 2018). Regarding the assessed antiviral potential, our results, as outlined above, do not allow for a definite conclusion concerning the mechanism of action. Further testing was not possible due to time constraints and the deficiency of ASP stock that depends on the growing season of the source plant *I. glandulifera*. However, additional experiments using higher ASP concentrations (25 μ g/mL) may be conducted in future research endeavours to assess the inhibitory concentration and possible interference with viral replication. Additionally, the protocol can be repeated using primary cells at a subsequent experimental stage.

6 Bibliography

- Achazi, Katharina, Andreas Nitsche, Pranav Patel, Aleksandar Radonić, Oliver Donoso Mantke, and Matthias Niedrig. 2011. 'Detection and Differentiation of Tick-Borne Encephalitis Virus Subtypes by a Reverse Transcription Quantitative Real-Time PCR and Pyrosequencing'. *Journal of Virological Methods* 171 (1): 34–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jviromet.2010.09.026.
- Adler, John H., and Thomas A. Salt. 1983. 'Cooccurrence of C-24 Alkylated Δ^7 and Δ^5 Sterols in the Leaves of *Beta Vulgaris* in the Leaves of *Beta Vulgaris*'. *Lipids* 18 (3): 229–32. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02534553.
- Akey, David L., W. Clay Brown, Somnath Dutta, Jamie Konwerski, Joyce Jose, Thomas J. Jurkiw, James DelProposto, et al. 2014. 'Flavivirus NS1 Structures Reveal Surfaces for Associations with Membranes and the Immune System'. *Science* 343 (6173): 881– 85. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1247749.
- Allison, S L, J Schalich, K Stiasny, C W Mandl, C Kunz, and F X Heinz. 1995. 'Oligomeric Rearrangement of Tick-Borne Encephalitis Virus Envelope Proteins Induced by an Acidic pH'. *Journal of Virology* 69 (2): 695–700. https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.69.2.695-700.1995.
- Armarego, Wilfred L.F., L.John Goad, and Trevor W. Goodwin. 1973. 'Biosynthesis of α-Spinasterol from (2- 14C (4R)-4-3H1) Mevalonic Acid by Spinacea Oleracea and Medicago Sativa'. *Phytochemistry* 12 (9): 2181–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/0031-9422(73)85117-9.
- Ashour, Mohamed L, Mahmoud Z El-Readi, Razan Hamoud, Safaa Y Eid, Sherweit H El Ahmady, Endalkachew Nibret, Florian Herrmann, et al. 2014. 'Anti-Infective and Cytotoxic Properties of Bupleurum Marginatum'. *Chinese Medicine* 9 (1): 4. https://doi.org/10.1186/1749-8546-9-4.
- Assefa, Teshale, Hailemichael Tesso, Venkatesha Perumal Ramachandran, Leta Guta, Taye
 B. Demissie, Japheth O. Ombito, Rajalakshmanan Eswaramoorthy, and Yadessa Melaku. 2024. 'In Silico Molecular Docking Analysis, Cytotoxicity, and Antibacterial Activities of Constituents of Fruits of *Cucumis Dipsaceus*'. ACS Omega 9 (1): 1945–55. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsomega.3c08866.
- Avirutnan, Panisadee, Richard E. Hauhart, Pawit Somnuke, Anna M. Blom, Michael S. Diamond, and John P. Atkinson. 2011. 'Binding of Flavivirus Nonstructural Protein NS1 to C4b Binding Protein Modulates Complement Activation'. *The Journal of Immunology* 187 (1): 424–33. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1100750.
- Bakhvalova, V.N., O.F. Potapova, V.V. Panov, and O.V. Morozova. 2009. 'Vertical Transmission of Tick-Borne Encephalitis Virus between Generations of Adapted Reservoir Small Rodents'. *Virus Research* 140 (1–2): 172–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.virusres.2008.12.001.

- Barlow, J.J., A.P. Mathias, R. Williamson, and D. B. Gammack. 1963. 'A Simple Method for the Quantitative Isolation of Undegraded High Molecular Weight Ribonucleic Acid'. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 13 (1): 61–66.
- Barrett, P.Noel, Susanne Schober-Bendixen, and Hartmut J Ehrlich. 2003. 'History of TBE Vaccines'. Vaccine 21 (April): S41–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0264-410X(02)00814-9.
- Beicht, Jana, Mareike Kubinski, Isabel Zdora, Christina Puff, Jeannine Biermann, Thomas Gerlach, Wolfgang Baumgärtner, et al. 2023. 'Induction of Humoral and Cell-Mediated Immunity to the NS1 Protein of TBEV with Recombinant Influenza Virus and MVA Affords Partial Protection against Lethal TBEV Infection in Mice'. *Frontiers in Immunology* 14 (July): 1177324. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2023.1177324.
- Belikov, Sergei I., Ilya G. Kondratov, Ulyana V. Potapova, and Galina N. Leonova. 2014. 'The Relationship between the Structure of the Tick-Borne Encephalitis Virus Strains and Their Pathogenic Properties'. Edited by Ulrike Gertrud Munderloh. *PLoS ONE* 9 (4): e94946. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0094946.
- Berger, Alvin, Peter Jh Jones, and Suhad S Abumweis. 2004. 'Plant Sterols: Factors Affecting Their Efficacy and Safety as Functional Food Ingredients'. *Lipids in Health and Disease* 3 (1): 5. https://doi.org/10.1186/1476-511X-3-5.
- Bogovic, Petra. 2015. 'Tick-Borne Encephalitis: A Review of Epidemiology, Clinical Characteristics, and Management'. *World Journal of Clinical Cases* 3 (5): 430. https://doi.org/10.12998/wjcc.v3.i5.430.
- Borges, Fabio R.M., Morgana D. Silva, Marina M. Córdova, Tiago R. Schambach, Moacir G. Pizzolatti, and Adair R.S. Santos. 2014. 'Anti-Inflammatory Action of Hydroalcoholic Extract, Dichloromethane Fraction and Steroid α-Spinasterol from Polygala Sabulosa in LPS-Induced Peritonitis in Mice'. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology* 151 (1): 144–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jep.2013.10.009.
- Brayton, C. F. 1986. 'Dimethyl Sulfoxide (DMSO): A Review'. *The Cornell Veterinarian* 76 (1): 61–90.
- Brzuska, Gabriela, Gabriela Pastuch-Gawolek, Monika Krawczyk, Boguslaw Szewczyk, and Ewelina Krol. 2020. 'Anti-Tick-Borne Encephalitis Virus Activity of Novel Uridine Glycoconjugates Containing Amide or/and 1,2,3-Triazole Moiety in the Linker Structure'. *Pharmaceuticals* 13 (12): 460. https://doi.org/10.3390/ph13120460.
- Buczek, Alicja M., Weronika Buczek, Alicja Buczek, and Joanna Wysokińska-Miszczuk. 2022. 'Food-Borne Transmission of Tick-Borne Encephalitis Virus—Spread, Consequences, and Prophylaxis'. *International Journal of Environmental Research* and Public Health 19 (3): 1812. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19031812.
- Bundesministerium Soziales, Gesundheit, Pflege und Konsumentenschutz. 2024. 'Jahresbericht Meldepflichtige Erkrankungen 2023'.

- Camarão, António A. R., Olivia Luise Gern, Felix Stegmann, Felix Mulenge, Bibiana Costa, Babak Saremi, Klaus Jung, Bernd Lepenies, Ulrich Kalinke, and Imke Steffen. 2023.
 'Secreted NS1 Proteins of Tick-Borne Encephalitis Virus and West Nile Virus Block Dendritic Cell Activation and Effector Functions'. Edited by Manjula Kalia. *Microbiology Spectrum* 11 (5): e02192-23. https://doi.org/10.1128/spectrum.02192-23.
- Chiffi, Gabriele, Denis Grandgirard, Parham Sendi, Anelia Dietmann, Claudio L. A. Bassetti, and Stephen L. Leib. 2022. 'Sleep-Wake and Circadian Disorders after Tick-Borne Encephalitis'. *Microorganisms* 10 (2): 304. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms10020304.
- Chiu, Chi-Fen, Li-Wei Chu, I-Chen Liao, Yogy Simanjuntak, Yi-Ling Lin, Chi-Chang Juan, and Yueh-Hsin Ping. 2020. 'The Mechanism of the Zika Virus Crossing the Placental Barrier and the Blood-Brain Barrier'. *Frontiers in Microbiology* 11 (February): 214. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2020.00214.
- Coballase-Urrutia, Elvia, José Pedraza-Chaverri, Rafael Camacho-Carranza, Noemí Cárdenas-Rodríguez, Bernardino Huerta-Gertrudis, Omar Noel Medina-Campos, Myrna Mendoza-Cruz, Guillermo Delgado-Lamas, and J. Javier Espinosa-Aguirre. 2010. 'Antioxidant Activity of Heterotheca Inuloides Extracts and of Some of Its Metabolites'. *Toxicology* 276 (1): 41–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tox.2010.06.013.
- Corby, T C, and P H Elworthy. 2011. 'The Solubility of Some Compounds in Hexadecylpolyoxyethylene Monoethers, Polyethylene Glycols, Water and Hexane'. *Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology* 23 (Supplement_1): 39S-48S. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2042-7158.1971.tb08767.x.
- Dabas, Rohit, Nandita Sharma, Avinash B Taksande, Roshan Prasad, Pratiksha K Munjewar, and Mayur B Wanjari. 2023. 'Breast Milk: A Potential Route of Tick-Borne Encephalitis Virus Transmission from Mother to Infant'. *Cureus*, July. https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.41590.
- Daelemans, Dirk, Rudi Pauwels, Erik De Clercq, and Christophe Pannecouque. 2011. 'A Time-of-Drug Addition Approach to Target Identification of Antiviral Compounds'. *Nature Protocols* 6 (6): 925-33. https://doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2011.330.
- Dai, Xiaoyi, Guobao Shang, Shan Lu, Jing Yang, and Jianguo Xu. 2018. 'A New Subtype of Eastern Tick-Borne Encephalitis Virus Discovered in Qinghai-Tibet Plateau, China'. *Emerging Microbes & Infections* 7 (1): 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41426-018-0081-6.
- Demina, T.V., Yu.P. Dzhioev, M.M. Verkhozina, I.V. Kozlova, S.E. Tkachev, A. Plyusnin, E.K. Doroshchenko, O.V. Lisak, and V.I. Zlobin. 2010. 'Genotyping and Characterization of the Geographical Distribution of Tick-borne Encephalitis Virus Variants with a Set of Molecular Probes'. *Journal of Medical Virology* 82 (6): 965– 76. https://doi.org/10.1002/jmv.21765.
- Di Nunzio, Mattia, Veronica Valli, Lidia Tomás-Cobos, Teresa Tomás-Chisbert, Lucía Murgui-Bosch, Francesca Danesi, and Alessandra Bordoni. 2017. 'Is Cytotoxicity a

Determinant of the Different in Vitro and in Vivo Effects of Bioactives?' *BMC Complementary and Alternative Medicine* 17 (1): 453. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12906-017-1962-2.

- Divé, Iris, Malin Veje, Gerhard Dobler, Tomas Bergström, Horst Buxmann, Bettina Paul, Frank Louwen, et al. 2020. 'Tick-Borne Encephalitis Virus (TBEV) Infection in Pregnancy: Absence of Virus Transmission to the Fetuses despite Severe Maternal Disease – A Case Study'. *Ticks and Tick-Borne Diseases* 11 (5): 101491. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ttbdis.2020.101491.
- Donoso-Mantke, Oliver, Luidmila S., and Daniel Ruzek. 2011. 'Tick-Borne Encephalitis Virus: A General Overview'. In *Flavivirus Encephalitis*, edited by Daniel Ruzek. InTech. https://doi.org/10.5772/21912.
- Dörrbecker, Bastian, Gerhard Dobler, Martin Spiegel, and Frank T. Hufert. 2010. 'Tick-Borne Encephalitis Virus and the Immune Response of the Mammalian Host'. *Travel Medicine and Infectious Disease* 8 (4): 213–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tmaid.2010.05.010.
- Dumpis, Uga, Derrick Crook, and Jarmo Oksi. 1999. 'Tick-Borne Encephalitis'. *Clinical Infectious Diseases* 28 (4): 882–90. <u>https://doi.org/10.1086/515195</u>.
- ECDC. 2022. 'Tick-Borne Encephalitis'. Annual epidemiological report for 2020. Stockholm: European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control.
- Ecker, M, S L Allison, T Meixner, and F X Heinz. 1999. 'Sequence Analysis and Genetic Classification of Tick-Borne Encephalitis Viruses from Europe and Asia.' *Journal of General Virology* 80 (1): 179–85. https://doi.org/10.1099/0022-1317-80-1-179.
- Elsterova, Jana, Martin Palus, Jana Sirmarova, Jan Kopecky, Hans Helmut Niller, and Daniel Ruzek. 2017. 'Tick-Borne Encephalitis Virus Neutralization by High Dose Intravenous Immunoglobulin'. *Ticks and Tick-Borne Diseases* 8 (2): 253–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ttbdis.2016.11.007.
- Erber, Wilhelm, Heinz-Josef Schmitt, and Tamara Vuković Janković. 2023. 'Epidemiology by Country an Overview'. In *The TBE Book*, 6th ed. https://tbenews.com/tbe/tbe12a/.
- Ergunay, Koray, Sergey Tkachev, Irina Kozlova, and Daniel Růžek. 2016. 'A Review of Methods for Detecting Tick-Borne Encephalitis Virus Infection in Tick, Animal, and Human Specimens'. Vector-Borne and Zoonotic Diseases 16 (1): 4–12. https://doi.org/10.1089/vbz.2015.1896.
- European Commission. 2012. Commission Decision of 3 September 2012 Amending Decision 2000/96/EC as Regards Tick-Borne Encephalitis and the Category of Vector-Borne Communicable Diseases. 2012/492/EU. https://eurlex.europa.eu/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2012:239:0003:0004:EN:PDF.
- Eyer, Luděk, Markéta Šmídková, Radim Nencka, Jiří Neča, Tomáš Kastl, Martin Palus, Erik De Clercq, and Daniel Růžek. 2016. 'Structure-Activity Relationships of Nucleoside

Analogues for Inhibition of Tick-Borne Encephalitis Virus'. *Antiviral Research* 133 (September): 119–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.antiviral.2016.07.018.

- Fablet, Aurore, Cindy Kundlacz, Juliette Dupré, Edouard Hirchaud, Lydie Postic, Corinne Sailleau, Emmanuel Bréard, Stéphan Zientara, Damien Vitour, and Grégory Caignard. 2022. 'Comparative Virus-Host Protein Interactions of the Bluetongue Virus NS4 Virulence Factor'. Viruses 14 (2): 182. https://doi.org/10.3390/v14020182.
- Falgout, B, R H Miller, and C J Lai. 1993. 'Deletion Analysis of Dengue Virus Type 4 Nonstructural Protein NS2B: Identification of a Domain Required for NS2B-NS3 Protease Activity'. *Journal of Virology* 67 (4): 2034–42. https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.67.4.2034-2042.1993.
- Fernholz, Erhard., and Mildred L. Moore. 1939. 'The Isolation of α-Spinasterol from Alfalfa'. Journal of the American Chemical Society 61 (9): 2467–68. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja01878a060.
- Füzik, Tibor, Petra Formanová, Daniel Růžek, Kentaro Yoshii, Matthias Niedrig, and Pavel Plevka. 2018. 'Structure of Tick-Borne Encephalitis Virus and Its Neutralization by a Monoclonal Antibody'. *Nature Communications* 9 (1): 436. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-02882-0.
- Gautam, Akash. 2022. 'Lithium Chloride-Based Isolation of RNA'. In DNA and RNA Isolation Techniques for Non-Experts, by Akash Gautam, 69–72. Techniques in Life Science and Biomedicine for the Non-Expert. Cham: Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-94230-4_8.
- Girl, P., M. Bestehorn-Willmann, S. Zange, J. P. Borde, G. Dobler, and H. Von Buttlar. 2020. 'Tick-Borne Encephalitis Virus Nonstructural Protein 1 IgG Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay for Differentiating Infection versus Vaccination Antibody Responses'. Edited by Yi-Wei Tang. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 58 (4): e01783-19. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.01783-19.
- Goto, Akiko, Kentarou Yoshii, Mayumi Obara, Tomotaka Ueki, Tetsuya Mizutani, Hiroaki Kariwa, and Ikuo Takashima. 2005. 'Role of the N-Linked Glycans of the prM and E Envelope Proteins in Tick-Borne Encephalitis Virus Particle Secretion'. *Vaccine* 23 (23): 3043–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2004.11.068.
- Gray, J. S., H. Dautel, A. Estrada-Peña, O. Kahl, and E. Lindgren. 2009. 'Effects of Climate Change on Ticks and Tick-Borne Diseases in Europe'. *Interdisciplinary Perspectives* on Infectious Diseases 2009: 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1155/2009/593232.
- Haglund, Mats, and Göran Günther. 2003. 'Tick-Borne Encephalitis—Pathogenesis, Clinical Course and Long-Term Follow-Up'. Vaccine 21 (April): S11–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0264-410X(02)00811-3.
- Haralampiev, Ivan, Holger A. Scheidt, Daniel Huster, and Peter Müller. 2017. 'The Potential of α-Spinasterol to Mimic the Membrane Properties of Natural Cholesterol'. *Molecules* 22 (8): 1390. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules22081390.

- Hart, Charles E., Jose M. Ribeiro, Maria Kazimirova, and Saravanan Thangamani. 2020. 'Tick-Borne Encephalitis Virus Infection Alters the Sialome of Ixodes Ricinus Ticks During the Earliest Stages of Feeding'. *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology* 10 (February): 41. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2020.00041.
- Hartmann, M. 1998. 'Plant Sterols and the Membrane Environment'. *Trends in Plant Science* 3 (5): 170–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1360-1385(98)01233-3.
- Heinz, F X, K Stiasny, H Holzmann, M Kundi, W Sixl, M Wenk, W Kainz, A Essl, and C Kunz. 2015. 'Emergence of Tick-Borne Encephalitis in New Endemic Areas in Austria: 42 Years of Surveillance'. *Eurosurveillance* 20 (13). https://doi.org/10.2807/1560-7917.ES2015.20.13.21077.
- Hills, Susan L., Katherine A. Poehling, Wilbur H. Chen, and J. Erin Staples. 2023. 'Tick-Borne Encephalitis Vaccine: Recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices, United States, 2023'. MMWR. Recommendations and Reports 72 (5): 1–29. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.rr7205a1.
- Hsieh, Pei-Wen, Fang-Rong Chang, Kuo-Hsiung Lee, Tsong-Long Hwang, Sue-Ming Chang, and Yang-Chang Wu. 2004. 'A New Anti-HIV Alkaloid, Drymaritin, and a New C-Glycoside Flavonoid, Diandraflavone, from Drymaria d Iandra'. Journal of Natural Products 67 (7): 1175–77. https://doi.org/10.1021/np0400196.
- Hudopisk, Neda, Miša Korva, Evgen Janet, Marjana Simetinger, Marta Grgič-Vitek, Jakob Gubenšek, Vladimir Natek, Alenka Kraigher, Franc Strle, and Tatjana Avšič-Županc. 2013. 'Tick-Borne Encephalitis Associated with Consumption of Raw Goat Milk, Slovenia, 2012'. *Emerging Infectious Diseases* 19 (5). https://doi.org/10.3201/eid1905.121442.
- ISO. 2009. 'Biological Evaluation of Medical Devices Part 5: Tests for in Vitro Cytotoxicity'. Standard ISO 10993-5:2023. International Organization for Standardization. https://www.iso.org/obp/ui/#iso:std:iso:10993:-5:ed-3:v1:en.
- Jeong, Gil-Saeng, Bin Li, Dong-Sung Lee, Ki Hyun Kim, Il Kyun Lee, Kang Ro Lee, and Youn-Chul Kim. 2010. 'Cytoprotective and Anti-Inflammatory Effects of Spinasterol via the Induction of Heme Oxygenase-1 in Murine Hippocampal and Microglial Cell Lines'. *International Immunopharmacology* 10 (12): 1587–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intimp.2010.09.013.
- Jeong, Seung II, Kang Ju Kim, Min Kyu Choi, Kyung Soo Keum, Seoul Lee, Seon Ho Ahn, Seung Hoon Back, et al. 2004. 'α-Spinasterol Isolated from the Root of *Phytolacca americana* and its Pharmacological Property on Diabetic Nephropathy'. *Planta Medica* 70 (8): 736–39. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2004-827204.
- Kaaijk, Patricia, and Willem Luytjes. 2018. 'Are We Prepared for Emerging Flaviviruses in Europe? Challenges for Vaccination'. *Human Vaccines & Immunotherapeutics* 14 (2): 337–44. https://doi.org/10.1080/21645515.2017.1389363.

- Kaiser, Reinhard. 1999. 'The Clinical and Epidemiological Profile of Tick-Borne Encephalitis in Southern Germany 1994–98'. *Brain* 122 (11): 2067–78. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/122.11.2067.
- Kaiser, Reinhard. 2008. 'Tick-Borne Encephalitis'. Infectious Disease Clinics of North America 22 (3): 561–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.idc.2008.03.013.
- Karbowiak, Grzegorz, and Beata Biernat. 2016. 'The Role of Particular Tick Developmental Stages in the Circulation of Tick-Borne Pathogens Affecting Humans in Central Europe. 2. Tick-Borne Encephalitis Virus'. Annals of Parasitology, no. 1: 3–9. https://doi.org/10.17420/ap6201.25.
- Karbowiak, Grzegorz, Beata Biernat, Joanna Werszko, and Leszek Rychlik. 2016. 'The Transstadial Persistence of Tick-Borne Encephalitis Virus in Dermacentor Reticulatus Ticks in Natural Conditions'. *Acta Parasitologica* 61 (1). https://doi.org/10.1515/ap-2016-0028.
- Kemp, D.H., B.F. Stone, and K.C. Binnington. 1982. 'Tick Attachment and Feeding: Role of the Mouthparts, Feeding Apparatus, Salivary Gland Secretions and the Host Response'. In *Physiology of Ticks*, 119–68. Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-08-024937-7.50009-3.
- Khasnatinov, M. A., T. G. Gornostai, I. S. Solovarov, M. S. Polyakova, G. A. Danchinova, and G. V. Borovskii. 2021. 'Antiviral Properties of Water Extracts of Mycelium *Inonotus Rheades* (Pers.) P. Karst. (1882) against the Virus of Tick-Borne Encephalitis Virus *in Vitro*'. *Acta Biomedica Scientifica* 6 (1): 55–59. https://doi.org/10.29413/ABS.2021-6.1.8.
- Kim, Tae-Won, Jong-Hwan Lim, In-Bae Song, Sang-Jin Park, Jae-Won Yang, Jung Cheul Shin, Joo-Won Suh, et al. 2012. 'Hepatoprotective and Anti-Hepatitis C Viral Activity of Platycodon Grandiflorum Extract on Carbon Tetrachloride-Induced Acute Hepatic Injury in Mice'. *Journal of Nutritional Science and Vitaminology* 58 (3): 187–94. https://doi.org/10.3177/jnsv.58.187.
- Kindberg, Elin, Sirkka Vene, Aukse Mickiene, Åke Lundkvist, Lars Lindquist, and Lennart Svensson. 2011. 'A Functional Toll-Like Receptor 3 Gene (TLR3) May Be a Risk Factor for Tick-Borne Encephalitis Virus (TBEV) Infection'. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases* 203 (4): 523–28. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/jiq082.
- King, Andrew M.Q., Michael J. Adams, Eric B. Carstens, and Elliot J. Lefkowitz, eds. 2012. 'Family - Flaviviridae'. In *Virus Taxonomy*, 1003–20. Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-384684-6.00086-0.
- Kofler, Regina M., Agnes Leitner, Gabriel O'Riordain, Franz X. Heinz, and Christian W. Mandl. 2003. 'Spontaneous Mutations Restore the Viability of Tick-Borne Encephalitis Virus Mutants with Large Deletions in Protein C'. *Journal of Virology* 77 (1): 443–51. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.77.1.443-451.2003.
- Kopylov, Arthur T., Kristina A. Malsagova, Alexander A. Stepanov, and Anna L. Kaysheva. 2021. 'Diversity of Plant Sterols Metabolism: The Impact on Human Health, Sport,

and Accumulation of Contaminating Sterols'. *Nutrients* 13 (5): 1623. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu13051623.

- Kozlova, I. V., T. V. Demina, S. E. Tkachev, E. K. Doroshchenko, O. V. Lisak, M. M. Verkhozina, L. S. Karan, et al. 2018. 'Characteristics of the Baikal Subtype of Tick-Borne Encepahlitis Virus Circluating in Eastern Siberia'. Acta Biomedica Scientifica (East Siberian Biomedical Journal) 3 (4): 53–60. https://doi.org/10.29413/ABS.2018-3.4.9.
- Kříž, B., C. Beneš, and M. Daniel. 2009. 'Alimentary Transmission of Tick-Borne Encephalitis in the Czech Republic (1997-2008)'. *Epidemiologie, Mikrobiologie, Imunologie* 58 (2): 98–103.
- Kroschewski, Helga, Steven L Allison, Franz X Heinz, and Christian W Mandl. 2003. 'Role of Heparan Sulfate for Attachment and Entry of Tick-Borne Encephalitis Virus'. *Virology* 308 (1): 92–100. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0042-6822(02)00097-1.
- Krylova, N. V., G. N. Leonova, O. S. Maystrovskaya, A. M. Popov, and A. A. Artyukov. 2018. 'Mechanisms of Antiviral Activity of the Polyphenol Complex from Seagrass of the Zosteraceae Family against Tick-Borne Encephalitis Virus'. *Bulletin of Experimental Biology and Medicine* 165 (1): 61–63. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10517-018-4099-5.
- Kubinski, Mareike, Jana Beicht, Thomas Gerlach, Amare Aregay, Albert D. M. E. Osterhaus, Alina Tscherne, Gerd Sutter, Chittappen Kandiyil Prajeeth, and Guus F. Rimmelzwaan. 2024. 'Immunity to Tick-Borne Encephalitis Virus NS3 Protein Induced with a Recombinant Modified Vaccinia Virus Ankara Fails to Afford Mice Protection against TBEV Infection'. Vaccines 12 (1): 105. https://doi.org/10.3390/vaccines12010105.
- Kurz, Martina, Nikolas Stefan, Junping Zhu, and Tim Skern. 2012. 'NS2B/3 Proteolysis at the C-prM Junction of the Tick-Borne Encephalitis Virus Polyprotein Is Highly Membrane Dependent'. *Virus Research* 168 (1–2): 48–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.virusres.2012.06.012.
- Kwasnik, Malgorzata, Jerzy Rola, and Wojciech Rozek. 2023. 'Tick-Borne Encephalitis— Review of the Current Status'. *Journal of Clinical Medicine* 12 (20): 6603. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm12206603.
- Labuda, M., P. A. Nuttall, O. Kožuch, E. Elečková, T. Williams, E. Žuffová, and A. Sabó. 1993. 'Non-Viraemic Transmission of Tick-Borne Encephalitis Virus: A Mechanism for Arbovirus Survival in Nature'. *Experientia* 49 (9): 802–5. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01923553.
- Labuda, Milan, Oto Kozuch, Eva Zuffová, Elena Elecková, Rosie S. Hails, and Patricia A. Nuttall. 1997. 'Tick-Borne Encephalitis Virus Transmission between Ticks Cofeeding on Specific Immune Natural Rodent Hosts'. *Virology* 235 (1): 138–43. https://doi.org/10.1006/viro.1997.8622.
- Lawal, Bilqis A., Aniefiok Udobre, Taiwo O. Elufioye, Augustine A. Ahmadu, and Bolatito Olanipekun. 2020. 'Novel Cholinesterase Inhibitory Effect of α-Spinasterol Isolated

from the Leaves of Acacia Auriculiformis A. CUNN Ex. Benth (Fabaceae)'. *Tropical Journal of Pharmaceutical Research* 19 (7): 1473–79. https://doi.org/10.4314/tjpr.v19i7.20.

- Lee, Dahae, Ji-Young Kim, Hak Cheol Kwon, Jaeyoung Kwon, Dae Sik Jang, and Ki Sung Kang. 2022. 'Dual Beneficial Effects of α-Spinasterol Isolated from Aster Pseudoglehnii on Glucose Uptake in Skeletal Muscle Cells and Glucose-Stimulated Insulin Secretion in Pancreatic β-Cells'. *Plants* 11 (5): 658. https://doi.org/10.3390/plants11050658.
- Lee, Eva, and Mario Lobigs. 2000. 'Substitutions at the Putative Receptor-Binding Site of an Encephalitic Flavivirus Alter Virulence and Host Cell Tropism and Reveal a Role for Glycosaminoglycans in Entry'. *Journal of Virology* 74 (19): 8867–75. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.74.19.8867-8875.2000.
- Lee, Tae Hoon, Mira Jung, Myun-Ho Bang, Dae Kyun Chung, and Jiyoung Kim. 2012. 'Inhibitory Effects of a Spinasterol Glycoside on Lipopolysaccharide-Induced Production of Nitric Oxide and Proinflammatory Cytokines via down-Regulating MAP Kinase Pathways and NF-κB Activation in RAW264.7 Macrophage Cells'. *International Immunopharmacology* 13 (3): 264–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intimp.2012.05.005.
- Leonova, G. N., A. L. Shutikova, V. A. Lubova, and O. S. Maistrovskaya. 2020. 'Inhibitory Activity of Scutellaria Baicalensis Flavonoids against Tick-Borne Encephalitis Virus'. *Bulletin of Experimental Biology and Medicine* 168 (5): 665–68. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10517-020-04776-y.
- Lindquist, Lars, and Olli Vapalahti. 2008. 'Tick-Borne Encephalitis'. *The Lancet* 371 (9627): 1861–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(08)60800-4.
- Majeed, Muhammed, Furkan Ahmad, Lakshmi Mundkur, and Subramoniam Appian. 2022. 'Pharmacology of A-spinasterol, a Phytosterol with Nutraceutical Values: A Review'. *Phytotherapy Research* 36 (10): 3681–90. https://doi.org/10.1002/ptr.7560.
- Mammari, Nour, Ysaline Krier, Quentin Albert, Marc Devocelle, Mihayl Varbanov, and on behalf of the OEMONOM. 2021. 'Plant-Derived Antimicrobial Peptides as Potential Antiviral Agents in Systemic Viral Infections'. *Pharmaceuticals* 14 (8): 774. https://doi.org/10.3390/ph14080774.
- Mandl, C W, F X Heinz, H Holzmann, C Kunz, and M Ecker. 1997. 'Infectious cDNA Clones of Tick-Borne Encephalitis Virus European Subtype Prototypic Strain Neudoerfl and High Virulence Strain Hypr.' *Journal of General Virology* 78 (5): 1049–57. https://doi.org/10.1099/0022-1317-78-5-1049.
- Mandl, Christian W. 2005. 'Steps of the Tick-Borne Encephalitis Virus Replication Cycle That Affect Neuropathogenesis'. *Virus Research* 111 (2): 161–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.virusres.2005.04.007.
- Nagańska, Anna, Ewelina Garbacz-Łagożna, Jacek Kowalski, Grażyna Cholewińska-Szymańska, Aleksandra Chylak-Nowosielska, Mateusz Antosiewicz, and Rafal

Szymański. 2023. 'The Thick-Borne Encephalitis Caused by Alimentary Transmission – Case Series Report'. *Przeglad Epidemiologiczny*, June, 41–52. https://doi.org/10.32394/pe.77.04.

- Nah, Kyeongah, Ákos Bede-Fazekas, Attila János Trájer, and Jianhong Wu. 2020. 'The Potential Impact of Climate Change on the Transmission Risk of Tick-Borne Encephalitis in Hungary'. BMC Infectious Diseases 20 (1): 34. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12879-019-4734-4.
- Naithani, Rajesh, Rajendra G. Mehta, Deepak Shukla, Susantha N. Chandersekera, and Robert M. Moriarty. 2010. 'Antiviral Activity of Phytochemicals: A Current Perspective'. In *Dietary Components and Immune Function*, edited by Ronald Ross Watson, Sherma Zibadi, and Victor R. Preedy, 421–68. Totowa, NJ: Humana Press. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-60761-061-8_24.
- Nithiuthai, S., and J. R. Allen. 1985. 'Langerhans Cells Present Tick Antigens to Lymph Node Cells from Tick-Sensitized Guinea-Pigs'. *Immunology* 55 (1): 157–63.
- Palanisamy, Kandhan, K. Rudharachari Maiyelvaganan, Shanmugasundaram Kamalakannan, Ramasamy Thilagavathi, Chelliah Selvam, and Muthuramalingam Prakash. 2022. 'In Silico Screening of Potential Antiviral Inhibitors against SARS-CoV-2 Main Protease'. Preprint. In Review. https://doi.org/10.21203/rs.3.rs-1330646/v1.
- Palus, Martin, Marie Vancova, Jana Sirmarova, Jana Elsterova, Jan Perner, and Daniel Ruzek. 2017. 'Tick-Borne Encephalitis Virus Infects Human Brain Microvascular Endothelial Cells without Compromising Blood-Brain Barrier Integrity'. Virology 507 (July): 110– 22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.virol.2017.04.012.
- Perera-Lecoin, Manuel, Laurent Meertens, Xavier Carnec, and Ali Amara. 2013. 'Flavivirus Entry Receptors: An Update'. *Viruses* 6 (1): 69–88. https://doi.org/10.3390/v6010069.
- Piironen, Vieno, David G Lindsay, Tatu A Miettinen, Jari Toivo, and Anna-Maija Lampi. 2000. 'Plant Sterols: Biosynthesis, Biological Function and Their Importance to Human Nutrition'. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 80 (7): 939–66. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-0010(20000515)80:7<939::AID-JSFA644>3.0.CO;2-C.
- Poponnikova, Tatyana V. 2006. 'Specific Clinical and Epidemiological Features of Tick-Borne Encephalitis in Western Siberia'. *International Journal of Medical Microbiology* 296 (May): 59–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijmm.2006.01.023.
- Postler, Thomas S., Martin Beer, Bradley J. Blitvich, Jens Bukh, Xavier De Lamballerie, J. Felix Drexler, Allison Imrie, et al. 2023. 'Renaming of the Genus Flavivirus to Orthoflavivirus and Extension of Binomial Species Names within the Family Flaviviridae'. Archives of Virology 168 (9): 224, s00705-023-05835-1. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00705-023-05835-1.
- Pulkkinen, Lauri, Sarah Butcher, and Maria Anastasina. 2018. 'Tick-Borne Encephalitis Virus: A Structural View'. *Viruses* 10 (7): 350. https://doi.org/10.3390/v10070350.

- Randolph, Sarah E. 2011. 'Transmission of Tick-Borne Pathogens between Co-Feeding Ticks: Milan Labuda's Enduring Paradigm'. *Ticks and Tick-Borne Diseases* 2 (4): 179–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ttbdis.2011.07.004.
- Rastogi, Meghana, Nikhil Sharma, and Sunit Kumar Singh. 2016. 'Flavivirus NS1: A Multifaceted Enigmatic Viral Protein'. Virology Journal 13 (1): 131. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12985-016-0590-7.
- Rey, Félix A., Franz X. Heinz, Christian Mandl, Christian Kunz, and Stephen C. Harrison. 1995. 'The Envelope Glycoprotein from Tick-Borne Encephalitis Virus at 2 Å Resolution'. *Nature* 375 (6529): 291–98. https://doi.org/10.1038/375291a0.
- Rogowska, Agata, and Anna Szakiel. 2020. 'The Role of Sterols in Plant Response to Abiotic Stress'. *Phytochemistry Reviews* 19 (6): 1525–38. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11101-020-09708-2.
- Růžek, Daniel, Tatjana Avšič Županc, Johannes Borde, Ales Chrdle, Ludek Eyer, Galina Karganova, Ivan Kholodilov, et al. 2019a. 'Tick-Borne Encephalitis in Europe and Russia: Review of Pathogenesis, Clinical Features, Therapy, and Vaccines'. *Antiviral Research* 164 (April): 23–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.antiviral.2019.01.014.
- Růžek, Daniel. 2019b. 'Tick-Borne Encephalitis in Europe and Russia: Review of Pathogenesis, Clinical Features, Therapy, and Vaccines'. Antiviral Research 164 (April): 23–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.antiviral.2019.01.014.
- Růžek, Daniel, Jiří Salát, Sunit K. Singh, and Jan Kopecký. 2011. 'Breakdown of the Blood-Brain Barrier during Tick-Borne Encephalitis in Mice Is Not Dependent on CD8+ T-Cells'. Edited by Anthony R. Fooks. *PLoS ONE* 6 (5): e20472. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0020472.
- Sedky, Nada K., Zaynab H. El Gammal, Amir E. Wahba, Eman Mosad, Zahraa Y. Waly, Amira Ali El-Fallal, Reem K. Arafa, and Nagwa El-Badri. 2018. 'The Molecular Basis of Cytotoxicity of A-spinasterol from *Ganoderma Resinaceum*: Induction of Apoptosis and Overexpression of P53 in Breast and Ovarian Cancer Cell Lines'. *Journal of Cellular Biochemistry* 119 (5): 3892–3902. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcb.26515.
- Selinger, Martin, Hana Tykalová, Ján Štěrba, Pavlína Věchtová, Zuzana Vavrušková, Jaroslava Lieskovská, Alain Kohl, Esther Schnettler, and Libor Grubhoffer. 2019. 'Tick-Borne Encephalitis Virus Inhibits rRNA Synthesis and Host Protein Production in Human Cells of Neural Origin'. Edited by David W.C. Beasley. *PLOS Neglected Tropical Diseases* 13 (9): e0007745. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0007745.
- Semenza, Jan C, and Jonathan E Suk. 2018. 'Vector-Borne Diseases and Climate Change: A European Perspective'. *FEMS Microbiology Letters* 365 (2). https://doi.org/10.1093/femsle/fnx244.
- Siddiqui, Sahabjada, Shivbrat Upadhyay, Rumana Ahmad, Anamika Gupta, Aditi Srivastava, Anchal Trivedi, Ishrat Husain, Bilal Ahmad, Maqusood Ahamed, and Mohsin Ali Khan. 2022. 'Virtual Screening of Phytoconstituents from Miracle Herb *Nigella Sativa*

Targeting Nucleocapsid Protein and Papain-like Protease of SARS-CoV-2 for COVID-19 Treatment'. *Journal of Biomolecular Structure and Dynamics* 40 (9): 3928–48. https://doi.org/10.1080/07391102.2020.1852117.

- Siemieniako-Werszko, Agnieszka, Piotr Czupryna, Anna Moniuszko-Malinowska, Justyna Dunaj-Małyszko, Sławomir Pancewicz, Sambor Grygorczuk, and Joanna Zajkowska. 2022. 'Anti-TBE Intrathecal Synthesis as a Prediction Marker in TBE Patients'. *Pathogens* 11 (4): 416. https://doi.org/10.3390/pathogens11040416.
- Silveira, G F, D M Strottmann, L De Borba, D S Mansur, N I T Zanchin, J Bordignon, and C N Duarte Dos Santos. 2015. 'Single Point Mutations in the Helicase Domain of the NS3 Protein Enhance Dengue Virus Replicative Capacity in Human Monocyte-Derived Dendritic Cells and Circumvent the Type I Interferon Response'. *Clinical and Experimental Immunology* 183 (1): 114–28. https://doi.org/10.1111/cei.12701.
- Šimo, Ladislav, Maria Kazimirova, Jennifer Richardson, and Sarah I. Bonnet. 2017. 'The Essential Role of Tick Salivary Glands and Saliva in Tick Feeding and Pathogen Transmission'. Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology 7 (June): 281. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2017.00281.
- Smit, Jolanda, Bastiaan Moesker, Izabela Rodenhuis-Zybert, and Jan Wilschut. 2011. 'Flavivirus Cell Entry and Membrane Fusion'. *Viruses* 3 (2): 160–71. https://doi.org/10.3390/v3020160.
- Socała, Katarzyna, Dorota Nieoczym, Mateusz Pieróg, and Piotr Wlaź. 2015. 'α-Spinasterol, a TRPV1 Receptor Antagonist, Elevates the Seizure Threshold in Three Acute Seizure Tests in Mice'. *Journal of Neural Transmission* 122 (9): 1239–47. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00702-015-1391-7.
- Socała, Katarzyna, and Piotr Wlaź. 2016. 'Evaluation of the Antidepressant- and Anxiolyticlike Activity of α-Spinasterol, a Plant Derivative with TRPV1 Antagonistic Effects, in Mice'. *Behavioural Brain Research* 303 (April): 19–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2016.01.048.
- Stadler, Konrad, S L Allison, Juliane Schalich, and Franz X. Heinz. 1997. 'Proteolytic Activation of Tick-Borne Encephalitis Virus by Furin'. *Journal of Virology* 71 (11): 8475–81.
- Starodubova, Elizaveta, Ksenia Tuchynskaya, Yulia Kuzmenko, Anastasia Latanova, Vera Tutyaeva, Vadim Karpov, and Galina Karganova. 2023. 'Activation of Early Proinflammatory Responses by TBEV NS1 Varies between the Strains of Various Subtypes'. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 24 (2): 1011. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms24021011.
- Stefania, Porcelli, Heckmann Aurélie, Lagrée Anne-Claire, Galon Clémence, Moutailler Sara, and Deshuillers Lucien Pierre. 2023. 'Exploring the Susceptibility of C3H Mice to Tick-Borne Encephalitis Virus Infection: Implications for Co-Infection Models and Understanding of the Disease'. *Viruses* 15 (11): 2270. https://doi.org/10.3390/v15112270.

- Sudhindra, Praveen. 2018. 'Tick-Borne Infections of the Central Nervous System'. In The Microbiology of Central Nervous System Infections, 173–95. Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-813806-9.00010-X.
- Talactac, Melbourne Rio, Kentaro Yoshii, Hiroki Maeda, Kodai Kusakisako, Emmanuel Pacia Hernandez, Naotoshi Tsuji, Kozo Fujisaki, Remil Linggatong Galay, Tetsuya Tanaka, and Masami Mochizuki. 2016. 'Virucidal Activity of Haemaphysalis Longicornis Longicin P4 Peptide against Tick-Borne Encephalitis Virus Surrogate Langat Virus'. *Parasites & Vectors* 9 (1): 59. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13071-016-1344-5.
- Tang, Jielin, Chonghui Xu, Muqing Fu, Canyu Liu, Xianwen Zhang, Wei Zhang, Rongjuan Pei, et al. 2023. 'Sterile 20-like Kinase 3 Promotes Tick-borne Encephalitis Virus Assembly by Interacting with NS2A and prM and Enhancing the NS2A–NS4A Association'. *Journal of Medical Virology* 95 (3): e28610. https://doi.org/10.1002/jmv.28610.
- Tang, Wan-Da, Hai-Lin Tang, Hao-Ran Peng, Rui-Wen Ren, Ping Zhao, and Lan-Juan Zhao.
 2023. 'Inhibition of Tick-Borne Encephalitis Virus in Cell Cultures by Ribavirin'. *Frontiers in Microbiology* 14 (June): 1182798. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2023.1182798.
- Thermo Fisher Scientific. n.d. 'Lithium Chloride Precipitation Solution Product Information'. 4386633. <u>https://assets.fishersci.com/TFS-Assets/LSG/manuals</u> /4386633_LithiumChloridePrecipSol_PI.pdf?_ga=2.158656441.2068282181.171517 7343-589877069.1715177343.
- Trevisan, Gabriela, Mateus Fortes Rossato, Cristiani Isabel Banderó Walker, Jonatas Zeni Klafke, Fernanda Rosa, Sara Marchesan Oliveira, Raquel Tonello, et al. 2012.
 'Identification of the Plant Steroid α-Spinasterol as a Novel Transient Receptor Potential Vanilloid 1 Antagonist with Antinociceptive Properties'. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics* 343 (2): 258–69. https://doi.org/10.1124/jpet.112.195909.
- Van Den Elsen, Kaïn, Jun Ping Quek, and Dahai Luo. 2021. 'Molecular Insights into the Flavivirus Replication Complex'. *Viruses* 13 (6): 956. https://doi.org/10.3390/v13060956.
- Van Heuverswyn, Jasper, Luisa K. Hallmaier-Wacker, Julien Beauté, Joana Gomes Dias, Joana M Haussig, Kristina Busch, Jana Kerlik, et al. 2023. 'Spatiotemporal Spread of Tick-Borne Encephalitis in the EU/EEA, 2012 to 2020'. *Eurosurveillance* 28 (11). https://doi.org/10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2023.28.11.2200543.
- Voyiatzaki, Chrysa, Sevastiani I. Papailia, Maria S. Venetikou, John Pouris, Maria E. Tsoumani, and Effie G. Papageorgiou. 2022. 'Climate Changes Exacerbate the Spread of Ixodes Ricinus and the Occurrence of Lyme Borreliosis and Tick-Borne Encephalitis in Europe—How Climate Models Are Used as a Risk Assessment Approach for Tick-Borne Diseases'. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health* 19 (11): 6516. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19116516.

- Vrchotová, Naděžda, Lenka Doudová, Jan Bednář, and Jan Tříska. 2024. 'Alpha-Spinasterol in the Roots of *Impatiens glandulifera* and Its Effects on the Viability of Human Cells'. *Chemical Papers*, February. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11696-024-03335-3.
- Wallner, G., C. W. Mandl, M. Ecker, H. Holzmann, K. Stiasny, C. Kunz, and F. X. Heinz. 1996. 'Characterization and Complete Genome Sequences of High- and Low-Virulence Variants of Tick-Borne Encephalitis Virus'. *Journal of General Virology* 77 (5): 1035–42. https://doi.org/10.1099/0022-1317-77-5-1035.
- Wang, Yuan-Chuen, Wan-Yu Li, Deng-Chyang Wu, Jeh-Jeng Wang, Cheng-Hsun Wu, Jyun-Ji Liao, and Cheng-Kun Lin. 2011. 'In Vitro Activity of 2-Methoxy-1,4-Naphthoquinone and Stigmasta-7,22-Diene-3 β -Ol from Impatiens balsamina L. against Multiple Antibiotic-Resistant Helicobacter pylori'. Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine 2011: 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1093/ecam/nep147.
- Whaley, David, Kimia Damyar, Rafal P. Witek, Alan Mendoza, Michael Alexander, and Jonathan Rt Lakey. 2021. 'Cryopreservation: An Overview of Principles and Cell-Specific Considerations'. *Cell Transplantation* 30 (January): 096368972199961. https://doi.org/10.1177/0963689721999617.
- Xie, Xuping, Jing Zou, Chunya Puttikhunt, Zhiming Yuan, and Pei-Yong Shi. 2015. 'Two Distinct Sets of NS2A Molecules Are Responsible for Dengue Virus RNA Synthesis and Virion Assembly'. *Journal of Virology* 89 (2): 1298–1313. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.02882-14.
- Yamshchikov, Vladimir F., and Richard W. Compans. 1993. 'Regulation of the Late Events in Flavivirus Protein Processing and Maturation'. *Virology* 192 (1): 38–51. https://doi.org/10.1006/viro.1993.1006.
- Yang, Qi, Jia You, Yuan Zhou, Yun Wang, Rongjuan Pei, Xinwen Chen, Min Yang, and Jizheng Chen. 2020. 'Tick-Borne Encephalitis Virus NS4A Ubiquitination Antagonizes Type I Interferon-Stimulated STAT1/2 Signalling Pathway'. *Emerging Microbes & Infections 9* (1): 714–26. https://doi.org/10.1080/22221751.2020.1745094.
- Yang, Xiaomin, Jianyu Zhou, Tao Wang, Ling Zhao, Gang Ye, Fei Shi, Yinglun Li, et al. 2017. 'A Novel Method for Synthesis of α-Spinasterol and Its Antibacterial Activities in Combination with Ceftiofur'. *Fitoterapia* 119 (June): 12–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fitote.2017.03.011.
- Yu, Chao, Katharina Achazi, Lars Möller, Joerg D. Schulzke, Matthias Niedrig, and Roland Bücker. 2014. 'Tick-Borne Encephalitis Virus Replication, Intracellular Trafficking, and Pathogenicity in Human Intestinal Caco-2 Cell Monolayers'. Edited by Tian Wang. *PLoS ONE* 9 (5): e96957. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0096957.
- Yu, Chao, Katharina Achazi, and Matthias Niedrig. 2013. 'Tick-Borne Encephalitis Virus Triggers Inositol-Requiring Enzyme 1 (IRE1) and Transcription Factor 6 (ATF6) Pathways of Unfolded Protein Response'. *Virus Research* 178 (2): 471–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.virusres.2013.10.012.

- Zhao, Baoyu, Guanghui Yi, Fenglei Du, Yin-Chih Chuang, Robert C. Vaughan, Banumathi Sankaran, C. Cheng Kao, and Pingwei Li. 2017. 'Structure and Function of the Zika Virus Full-Length NS5 Protein'. *Nature Communications* 8 (1): 14762. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms14762.
- Zubair, Muhammad, Saipul Maulana, Agustinus Widodo, Ramadanil Pitopang, Muhammad Arba, and Maywan Hariono. 2021. 'GC-MS, LC-MS/MS, Docking and Molecular Dynamics Approaches to Identify Potential SARS-CoV-2 3-Chymotrypsin-Like Protease Inhibitors from Zingiber Officinale Roscoe'. *Molecules* 26 (17): 5230. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules26175230.